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POINTS INTERNATIONAL LTD.

2007 Annual Report

More About Points International Ltd.

WHAT WE DO

The Corporation has developed a proprietary technology platform that allows it to offer a portfolio of products and serv-

ices to the loyalty program industry. The Points platform was designed to create value for consumers and loyalty programs

alike. The business is comprised of Points.com, a consumer loyalty program management portal, and a suite of Ecom-
merce Services available to loyalty program operators. The Corporation's business is primarily conducted over the internet,

allowing its two primary customers (loyalty program operators and loyalty programs' consumers) to be virtually anywhere

in the world.

Points.com

The Corporation's consumer facing business is the proprietary Points.com web site. Points.com is an online loyalty pro-

gram management portal, where consumers can Earn, Buy, Gift, Share, Swap and Redeem miles and points with some

of the world's leading loyalty programs and retail partners.

In addition, through 2007, Points.com introduced new functionality to further broaden opportunities available to consumers.

Developed in partnership with Travelocity, Book with Points is a new service which allows consumers to search for, book

and then directly pay for travel reservations using a loyalty currency, or a mix of loyalty currency and cash with no black-

out dates or capacity controls.

Also in 2007, the Global Points Exchange (GPX) was launched in Beta. GPX provides a forum for members of different

loyalty programs to trade points or miles between their accounts. Members have the flexibility to post and accept trades

at ratios that they value and control.

Ecommerce Services

Our suite of proprietary solutions builds profits for program operators while enhancing the loyalty experience for members.

Ecommerce Services include the following suite of offerings:

Buy and Gift – facilitates the online sale and gift of miles, points and other loyalty program currencies;

Transfer – facilitates the amalgamation or transfer of loyalty program currencies among multiple accounts;

Corporate – facilitates the sale of loyalty program currencies to corporate customers;

Elite – facilitates the online sale of elite-tier status to members of loyalty programs;

AirIncentives – facilitates the online sale of several airline loyalty program currencies to third parties that then are able

to offer airline miles as incentives to their customers and suppliers;

Systems Design – custom applications developed for select large loyalty program partners;

Integrate – functions as a common platform to process transactions between third-party loyalty programs in order to sim-

plify and automate a complex and resource-intensive process with a single integration;

Auction – via a partnership with Truition, and industry leader in on-demand Ecommerce Solutions, this service facilitates
the ability for programs to offer mileage or point based auctions to their members;

Travel Club - sale of travel club memberships that offer eligible members a bundle of benefits;

Earn - an online shopping mall platform where affiliate commissions are partly used to fund an extra incentive of miles or

points for a loyalty programs’ members.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

To Our Shareholders:

In 2007, Points International came of age... and the timing could not be more perfect.

We are now the preeminent solutions provider in the world’s largest currency market – frequent flyer miles. With over 14

trillion miles outstanding and $700 billion worth of redemptions annually, this market is liquid, robust and growing rapidly.

Points International has established a unique position in this economy both as an industry partner and a consumer serv-

ice.

After seven years of effort to establish our unique position at the heart of this exploding marketplace, we have begun to

see our efforts pay off. This is not simply seen in record financial and operational results — transactions in excess of 10

billion miles; revenues increasing over 170%; and record EBITDA— for these results are simply manifestations of a man-

agement team and Corporation beginning to fire on all cylinders. Under the leadership of our, Chief Executive Officer,

Robert MacLean, and President, Christopher Barnard, the financial milestones capped off a year of notable accomplish-

ments as well as the realization of what Points has to offer both its corporate partners and consumers.

For our industry partners, our transition from the Agency to the Principal model in our Ecommerce Services group created
a fundamental shift in the center of gravity of the Corporation. In addition, the launching of our beta-site for Global Points
Exchange (GPX) — our peer-to-peer exchange of points and miles — will create a true currency exchange model that will

parallel international currency markets.

The Board recognizes the outstanding contributions of our management team and employees for the success of 2007 I

also want to thank our fellow Directors for their guidance over the past year as they continue to provide oversight to the

Corporation’s strategic direction and implementation of business practices.

As a team, we have made Points International a great success and built a foundation for a Corporation with high sus-

tainable growth whose best years are ahead of it.

Stephen K. Bannon

Chairman of the Board



To Our Shareholders:

In 2007, the Corporation achieved an important milestone. I am pleased to tell you that for the first time in the Corpora-

tion’s history, we achieved positive EBITDA for the full year. As well, our business systems continue to process an in-

creasing amount of transactions, averaging over 900 million points/miles per month in 2007, a 41% increase over 2006.

This strength in volume was capped with over 3 billion points/miles transacted in the fourth quarter of 2007.

The year was also marked by change and innovation in our business. The Corporation broadened its offering to loyalty

partners with its Reseller proposition in 2007. In this instance, we take a principal role in the marketing and operations

of loyalty solutions to customers for our loyalty partners. This entails taking on credit and inventory risk, and in return, the

opportunity to earn a greater return as a firm participant in growing the business activity with our partners. To date, the

Corporation has now successfully implemented this with eight of its partners.

In the area of new products on the Points.com portal, we are very excited with the two key initiatives that we delivered in

their initial stage in 2007. We rolled out our initial Book with Points (BwP) functionality during 2007, and in this first ver-
sion, consumers are now able to use their points/miles to book any of thousands of hotel rooms available across the

world. This has been made possible through a partnership with Travelocity which sets the stage for greater functionality

in this product, moving forward. As well, the Corporation launched the world’s first peer-to-peer exchange for points/miles,

the Global Points Exchange (GPX), in December. Leveraging our sophisticated technology and extensive partner rela-
tionships, this product will enable the first true marketplace for members to trade their points and miles with each other.

We believe that giving consumers more control and opportunity to participate in the world’s largest economy, is a fantas-

tic proposition, and one that Points can uniquely deliver on.

Building on the achievements of 2007, key imperatives for 2008 will include the continued expansion of the Reseller

proposition to Ecommerce Services partners. In respect of our consumer portal, and with the goal of enhancing the over-
all value proposition to consumers, the Corporation will build on the over 1.8 million registered users as we further develop

the BwP product with Travelocity, and expand GPX with more partners and greater functionality. 2008 will also see the
beginnings of our plans to extend the reach of this innovative offering.

The Corporation’s history has been marked with a disciplined approach to business opportunities. New product and func-

tionality has always been added in measured steps, ensuring partner profitability from our products while allowing con-

sumers to extract greater value. Looking into the future, we believe the reputation we have built in the loyalty sector puts

us in a unique position for growth. With our estimate of worldwide accumulated points and miles growing at approxi-

mately 20% each year, the industry remains healthy and Points International is the recognized Partner of Choice.

The Corporation’s success to date is possible thanks to hard the work of our management team and our exceptional em-

ployees. I want to extend my sincere appreciation for the creativity, devotion and diligence demonstrated by the group of

people at Points. They are the key contributors to our achievements in 2007.

Our vision is to bring liquidity, transparency and value to the loyalty program marketplace for programs and consumers

alike. With confidence in the team we have, and the strong foundation of products we offer, I look forward to building on

our success into 2008 and beyond.

Robert MacLean

Chief Executive Officer

MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Robert MacLean – Chief Executive Officer
Rob has served as Chief Executive Officer of Points since February 2000, and is a member of the Corporation’s board of

directors. A founder of the organization, Rob drives the vision for this revolutionary business, and directs an exceptional

team of senior managers delivering impressive results. Previously, Rob held a variety of positions with major airlines in

Canada over a 12-year period, most recently as Vice President, Sales with Canadian Airlines, with responsibility for the

Canadian Plus Frequent Flyer program.

Christopher Barnard – President
Christopher serves as President of the Corporation since co-founding its predecessor, Exclamation in 1998 and is a mem-

ber of the Corporation’s board of directors. In this role, Christopher leads the Business Development and Relationship

Management areas for the Corporation. In addition, Christopher plays a key role in guiding overall business strategy.

Anthony Lam – Chief Financial Officer
Anthony oversees all areas of the Corporation’s financial operations. Those areas include accounting, compliance, legal

and regulatory affairs, business planning, risk management, treasury and investor relations. Anthony joined Points in

April 2007 after 15 years in a number of technology based public companies as well one of the leading Accounting firms.

Peter Lockhard – Senior Vice President, Product
Peter joined Points International in January 2005 as Vice President, Ecommerce Services and in his current role is re-
sponsible for developing and managing the various products and services that the Corporation provides to the loyalty in-

dustry. Peter manages the Corporation’s overall product strategy, and the various business units that are at the core of

our success. Peter has extensive senior and general management experience, including professional services, opera-

tions, sales and sales management, business and corporate strategy.

Brian Miller – Chief Information Officer
Brian brings more than two decades of IT experience to Points International. He and his team are focused on maximiz-

ing the value of Points International’s IT investments. He directs a highly skilled group of IT professionals to integrate new

partnerships, support the Points web applications and to research and implement future development. Brian’s IT expe-

rience encompasses e-commerce firms both large and small. His expertise is in bridging the technical and business as-

pects of business information technology.

Erika Boyd – Vice President, Human Resources
Erika is the champion of Human Resources efforts at Points. Her responsibilities include all areas related to attracting,

retaining and developing our great people. Since joining the Corporation in 2004, she has established the HR infra-

structure and has worked closely with the management team to ensure Points creates and maintains an environment

where the best people choose to work. Prior to joining Points, Erika held HR leadership positions in the e-commerce and

high-tech manufacturing industries where she developed her expertise in areas such as employee relations, talent ac-

quisition, compensation and performance management.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT



INTRODUCTION

The following management's discussion and analysis ("MD&A") of the performance, financial condition and future
prospects of Points International Ltd. and its subsidiaries (which is also referred to herein as "Points" or the "Corporation")
should be read in conjunction with the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements (including the notes thereon)
for the year ended December 31, 2007 and with the Corporation's 2006 audited consolidated financial statements. Fur-
ther information, including Points' Annual Information Form ("AIF") for the year ended December 31, 2007, may be ac-
cessed at www.sedar.com or www.sec.gov. All financial data herein have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and all dollar amounts herein are in Canadian dollars unless other-
wise specified. This MD&A is dated as of March 19, 2008.

The Corporation and its subsidiaries maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that infor-
mation required to be disclosed in filings made pursuant to Multilateral Instrument 52-109 is recorded, processed, sum-
marized and reported within the time periods specified in the Canadian Securities Administrators’ rules and forms. The
Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the disclosure controls and procedures
as of December 31, 2007 and the conclusions of such review are set out under “Disclosure Controls and Procedures” on
page 36 hereof.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This MD&A contains or incorporates forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Re-

formAct of 1995, as amended, and forward-looking information within the meaning of the "safe harbour" provisions of ap-

plicable Canadian securities legislation (collectively, "forward-looking statements"). All statements, other than statements

of historical fact, are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements relate to, among other things, rev-

enue growth through existing sources, new sources of revenue, sales of new products, increases in registered users, in-

creases in transaction sizes, growth in costs and expenses, increases in liquidity, generation of positive cashflow, and other

objectives, strategic plans and business development goals, and may also include other statements that are predictive in

nature, or that depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, and can generally be identified by words such as

"may," "will," "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "believes," "estimates" or similar expressions. In addition, any

statements that refer to expectations, projections and other characterizations of future events or circumstances are for-

ward-looking statements. These statements are not historical facts but instead represent only Points’ expectations, esti-

mates and projections regarding future events.

Although the Corporation believes the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, such

statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks and uncertainties that are difficult to pre-

dict. Undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. Certain material factors, estimates or assumptions are

applied in making forward-looking statements and actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in

such statements. Known and unknown factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or im-

plied in the forward-looking statements. Such factors are referred to in the body of this MD&A and also include the risks

and uncertainties discussed herein, the matters set forth under "Risks and Uncertainties" contained in the AIF filed with

applicable securities regulators and the factors detailed in Points' other filings with applicable securities regulators, in-

cluding the factors detailed in Points' annual and interim financial statements and the notes thereto. Readers are cau-

tioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance.

Points does not undertake any obligation to update or release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect

events or circumstances after the date of this MD&A or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as re-

quired by law.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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UPDATE ON ACCOUNTING CHANGES

RESTATEMENT

The information contained in this MD&A has been adjusted to reflect the restatement of our previously issued financial

statements and other financial information, as more fully described below.

Restatement of Transition Services Costs in Goodwill

During 2007, the Corporation’s 2006 40-F filing was reviewed by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. As a

result of that review process which was concluded on February 29, 2008, the Corporation will be restating its 2006 con-

solidated financial statements to write down transition service costs that were originally capitalized to Goodwill. Costs of

$365,515 and $306,138 incurred in the MilePoint acquisition in 2004 and 2005, respectively were incorrectly added to

Goodwill. These costs should have been expensed as incurred. The effect of the restatement is to increase the net loss

in each the 2004 and 2005 years. As a result of this restatement, the 2006 opening balance for Goodwill has been re-

duced by $671,653 and the 2006 opening Deficit increased by the same amount.

As part of a thorough review of the financial disclosures made in prior years carried out by management in 2007, the Cor-

poration will be restating its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006 as follows:

(a) Restatement of Cash and Cash Equivalents, Security Deposits and Funds Receivable From Payment Proces-

sors:

The Corporation has restated items historically disclosed as Cash and Cash Equivalents into three line items on

the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Funds receivable from payment processors are amounts collected on behalf

of the Corporation by payment processors. The funds are held for up to three days before being released to the

Corporation. As such, these amounts do not meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents as previously re-

ported and have been moved from cash and cash equivalents to funds receivable from payment processors. Se-

curity deposits are amounts held on a rolling six month basis by the Corporation’s payment processors that

process deposit and credit card transactions. Historically, these amounts were recorded as a component of cash

and cash equivalents, with disclosure in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Restatement of Public Company Costs:

In 2000, the Corporation became a public company through a reverse take over of its parent company. Costs of

$150,000 incurred to effect the reverse take over were incorrectly capitalized and included within Goodwill. This

Goodwill item was subsequently amortized in 2000 and 2001, resulting in a carrying value of $50,000 at the end

of 2001. As a result of this restatement, the 2006 opening balance for Goodwill has been reduced by $50,000

and the 2006 opening Deficit increased by the same amount.

(c) Restatement of Upfront Contract Initiation Fees:

The Corporation has determined that it had contracts with multiple deliverables. As such, the Corporation has ap-

plied guidance found in Abstract 142 of the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC-142”) of the Canadian Institute of

Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” and determined

that, for some contracts, there was only one unit of accounting. In particular, for contracts which contain ongo-

ing service requirements, fees and direct costs for initial set-up, have been deferred and recognized evenly over

the term of the contract. Previously, the fees and direct costs had incorrectly been recognized as initial set-up

occurred. The impact of this correction is included below by year. The cumulative net effects of these errors

prior to 2006 are recognized in the restated consolidated financial statements of 2006.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



The effect is as follows:

2003-2005 2006

Decrease in revenue as previously recognized $ (460,305) $ (550,986)

Decrease in costs as previously recognized 199,499 271,618

Decrease in net income $ (260,806) $ (279,368)

Increase in deferred revenue $ (460,305) $ (579,634)

Increase in deferred costs 199,499 300,266

Increase in deficit $ (260,806) $ (279,368)

The following table summarizes the impact of the restatement adjustments on the Corporation’s previously reported

consolidated balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow amounts for the year ended December 31, 2006:

2006

As Reported

Affecting

periods

prior to 2006

2006

Restatement

Ref 2006

As Restated

Balance Sheet Items

Cash and cash equivalents $ 24,689,040 $ – $ (4,930,550) a $ 19,758,490

Security deposits – – 1,220,209 a 1,220,209

Funds receivable from payment processors – – 3,710,341 a 3,710,341

Current portion of deferred costs – 107,053 176,596 c 283,649

Current assets 29,124,218 107,053 176,596 29,407,867

Goodwill

Public company costs (50,000) b

Transition services costs (671,653) –

Goodwill 4,850,722 (721,653) – 4,129,069

Deferred costs 1,167,330 92,446 123,670 c 1,383,446

Total assets 40,652,942 (522,154) 300,266 40,431,054

Current portion of deferred revenue 158,788 222,048 395,415 c 776,251

Deferred revenue – 238,257 184,219 c 422,476

Total liabilities 44,047,143 460,305 579,634 45,087,082

Deficit (55,335,455) (982,459) (279,368) (1,261,827)

Deficit - restated (56,597,282)

Liabilities and Shareholders' Deficiency $ 40,652,942 $ (522,154) $ 300,266 $ 40,431,054
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2006

As Reported

2006

Restatement

Ref 2006

As Restated

Income Statement Items

Total revenue $ 12,246,689 $ (550,986) c $11,695,703

Sales commission and related expenses 897,401 (79,214) c 818,187

Employment costs 8,378,316 (221,052) c 8,157,264

Foreign exchange loss (gain) (19,329) 28,648 c 9,319

Net loss $(7,906,695) $ (279,368) $(8,186,063)

Loss per share $ (0.07) $ (0.01) $ (0.08)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Corporation's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 and this MD&Ahave been prepared on the

basis of the foregoing changes. Furthermore, the comparative numbers from 2006 and, where applicable, 2005 have also

been revised to reflect these changes.

2006

As Reported

2006

Revised

2006

Restatement Ref

2006

As Restated

Statement of Cash Flows

Net loss $(7,906,695) $ – $ (279,368) c $(8,186,063)

Items not affecting cash

Unrealized foreign exchange loss / (gain) 2,189 208,558 (25,236) 185,511

Changes in non-cash balances related to

operations

Increase in security deposits – – (245,421) a (245,421)

Increase in funds received from payment

processors – – (796,848) a (796,848)

Decrease in accounts receivable 489,817 126,094 – 615,911

Increase in deferred costs – – (300,266) c (300,266)

Increase in prepaids and sundry assets (218,064) (184,791) – (402,855)

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and

accrued liabilities 1,018,764 (4) – 1,018,760

Increase in deferred revenue – 2,321 562,196 c 564,517

Increase (decrease) in payable to loyalty program

partners 4,820,759 (40,499) – 4,780,260

Changes in non cash balances related to

operations
6,111,276 (96,879) (780,339) 5,234,058

Cash flows provided by operating activities 3,002,907 111,679 (1,084,943) 2,029,643

Effect of exchange rate changes on Cash held in

foreign currency 491,139 (111,679) (91,870) a 287,590

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,705,433 (1,176,813) 3,528,620

Security deposits (957,669) a

Funds receivable from payment processors (2,796,068) a

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 19,983,607 (3,753,737) 16,229,870

Security deposits (1,220,209) a

Funds receivable from payment processors (3,710,341) a

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ 24,689,040 $(4,930,550) $ 19,758,490



BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Corporation provides a range of ecommerce and technology services to loyalty program operators that can be cate-

gorized in three distinct ways: (a) managing an online consumer loyalty currency management portal; (b) the sale of loy-

alty currencies (frequent flyer miles, hotel points, credit card points, etc.), both retail and wholesale, through loyalty program

branded ecommerce channels; and (c) offering a range of additional white label ecommerce products to large loyalty pro-

grams that enhance either the loyalty program’s consumer offering or its backend operations.

The Corporation offers a loyalty currency management portal (“www.points.com” or “Points.com”) where members of mul-
tiple loyalty programs can track and manage their loyalty currencies much like their other financial assets. Through this

portal, users are able to manage their portfolio of loyalty programs, conduct unique redemptions and trade their loyalty

currencies with other Points.com users through a newly launched peer-to-peer marketplace, the Global Points Exchange.
To facilitate these transactions, the Corporation has agreements with each loyalty program operator pursuant to which

Points is paid a fee per mile or point transacted in order to fund redemption. Points takes a commission from this fee and

utilizes the remaining funds to purchase either a different loyalty currency (called a “Swap”), purchase a retail good, such
as a gift certificate (called “Redeem”) or pay for a hotel room (called “Book with Points”). When Points.com users trade

points between themselves through the Global Points Exchange (“GPX”), they must pay to the Corporation a fee per mile
or point traded. Part of this fee is then remitted to each loyalty program involved in the trade. There are other transac-

tions available to the consumer at Points.com including a paid annual membership that affords the user additional bene-

fits. The Corporation has also begun to sell advertising space on the web site as well as in its email communications.

Utilizing the same proprietary infrastructure through which it operates Points.com, the Corporation also offers loyalty pro-
gram operators various white label Ecommerce Services. These services fall into two categories.

The first category is comprised of those Ecommerce Services that allow a loyalty program operator to increase revenues

earned from its membership base and are predominantly focused on offering various retail transactions directly to loyalty

program members. These services allow such members to either purchase additional miles or points in order to top up

their accounts to reach a redemption threshold (this service is called “Buy” or “Gift”) or to transfer pre-existing miles or
points into another member’s account, typically a family member or friend, as another means of enabling that other mem-

ber to accumulate sufficient miles or points to reach a redemption threshold (this service is called “Transfer”). Addition-
ally, the Corporation offers an Ecommerce Service that allows loyalty programs to wholesale their miles or points to third
parties who then use the miles or points as a customer or employee incentive (this service is called “Corporate”). The Cor-
poration uses a version of this wholesaling platform to offer third parties the ability to buy generic ‘airline mileage codes’

that their customers can then turn into miles in the participating loyalty program of their choice (this service is called “Air
Incentives”).

The Corporation offers these retailing and wholesaling services under two economic models. In some cases, Points acts

as the end retailer of the loyalty program miles or points, by buying the currency at a wholesale value from the loyalty pro-

gram and then reselling it to retail customers. Points earns a margin on each sale. The Corporation refers to this as its

“Principal” or “Reseller” model. In other cases, the Corporation deploys these services on behalf of the loyalty program
in exchange for a commission on each sale of miles or points effected using the service. In these cases, the Corporation

acts as an agent for the loyalty program in each transaction. The Corporation refers to this as its “Agency” model.

The second category of Ecommerce Services is comprised of certain services provided directly by the Corporation or
provided in cooperation with third party suppliers. The Ecommerce Services provided directly are (a) selling top tier sta-
tus on behalf of loyalty program operators to eligible members (called “Elite”); (b) selling travel club memberships that offer
eligible members a bundle of benefits (called “Travel Club”); and (c) selling lounge access and other program branded mer-

chandise. The Ecommerce Services provided in cooperation with other technical platform providers, are comprised of:

(a) an auction platform (“Auction”); (b) a magazine and newspaper redemption service; (c) an online shopping mall plat-
form where affiliate commissions are partly used to fund an extra incentive of miles or points for a loyalty programs’ mem-

bers (called “Earn”); and (d) an online travel booking service using miles and points as the form of payment (“Book with
Points”). In addition, the Corporation offers backend integration services to loyalty program operators to facilitate bilat-

eral currency relationships (“Integrate”). For all these Ecommerce Services transactions the Corporation earns either a
transaction based commission, a fixed transaction fee or a monthly operating fee.

As part of its operating economics, the Corporation also earns interest income on the cash flows generated by the trans-

actions undertaken through Points.com and the Ecommerce Services.
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SIGNIFICANT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS IN 2007 AND TO DATE

1. US Airways, Alaska Airlines, Delta Air Lines Extend Partnership with Points

USAirways, AlaskaAirlines and Delta Air Lines have extended their relationships with Points for an additional three

year period. US Airways has renewed its participation in the Corporation's consumer portal, Points.com, as well
as extended and expanded its use of the Buy, Gift, and Corporate Ecommerce Services. In addition, USAirways
has added Transfer to its product mix in January 2007. With Alaska Airlines, Points has taken more active re-

sponsibility in providing Buy, Gift, Corporate and Transfer services with full responsibility for financial administra-
tion of the Ecommerce Services including credit card fees and associated credit card processing risks. The

renewed relationship with Delta Air Lines reflects a more comprehensive relationship with the Corporation as it

takes on a Principal role, accepting greater responsibility in the operation of the Buy, Gift and Transfer programs
available to Delta’s SkyMiles customers. Delta Air Lines has also launched a new online Auction using technol-
ogy developed by the Corporation and its partner, Truition, and has expanded its use of Buy and Transfer pro-
grams, enabling customers from around the world to purchase, gift and transfer miles online at delta.com.

2. Icelandair Group, ATAAirlines, British Midland Airways, Choice Hotels Increase Options for Loyalty Program

Members

Members of the Icelandair Saga Club Award Program are now able to Swap their Award Points with other loyalty
programs and Redeem their Award Points for merchandise through Points.com. In addition, Points now provides

an online solution permitting Saga Club members to Buy, Gift, and Transfer Award Points with others. The Cor-
poration also now provides an online solution for ATAAirlines Travel Awards Program Members who wish to Buy,
Gift, or Transfer their Travel Award Points and an online solution for British Midland Airways’ Diamond Club Mem-
bers to Buy or Gift points. Expanding its penetration in the hotel industry, the Corporation now provides an on-

line solution for Choice Hotels’ Choice Privileges Rewards Program Members who wish to Buy or Gift points.

Points has taken a Principal role in the operations, marketing, and commercial transaction support for these new

products.

3. The Corporation adds Book with Points and the Global Points Exchange to Points.com

In the second half of 2007, the Corporation launched beta versions of two new products on Points.com: Book with
Points and the Global Points Exchange. Book with Points (BwP) allows end consumers to use their loyalty miles
or points to book a hotel room as a reward. This is made possible by an arrangement the Corporation has en-

tered into with Travelocity whereby end consumers are given access to the hotel room inventory of the Traveloc-

ity online site priced in loyalty miles or points through Points.com. The Global Points Exchange is the world’s first
peer-to-peer exchange of loyalty miles and points for end consumers. With the addition of these new products,

Points.com provides a more comprehensive and engaging consumer experience.

4. American Express Signs Long Term Contract Extension

American Express entered into a long term contract extension, as part of which American Express has broadened

the redemption options available to American Express Membership Rewards members through Points.com. Ad-
ditionally, American Express continues to use Points’ Integrate services to facilitate transfers of Membership Re-
wards points into other programs from the American Express Membership Rewards web site.

5. Continental Airlines Redesigns the OnePass® Online Auction

The Corporation and Continental Airlines redesigned the OnePass® Online Auction using technology developed
by the Corporation and its partner, Truition. This was the fourth auction product launched by the Corporation and

Truition.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES

Points categorizes its revenue in three ways. First, principal revenue is any revenue that is not commission revenue or

interest revenue, as defined below, and includes: Points.com membership dues, loyalty program sign-up fees, technol-

ogy design, development and maintenance revenue, hosting and management fees, reseller revenue where Points as-

sumes credit and/or inventory risk (i.e., acts as a Principal), and Travel Clubmembership revenue. Principal revenue has
been recorded on a gross basis in accordance with Abstract 123 of the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC-123”) of the

CICA Handbook, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as Agent”. Second, commission revenue is any
commissions earned that is calculated as a percentage of a transaction or a fixed dollar value per transaction and where

Points assumes no credit or inventory risk. Commission revenue has been recorded in accordance with EIC-123 of the

CICAHandbook. Third, interest revenue is any revenue earned through the Corporation’s investing activities arising from

its operating cash flow.

Based on these categorizations, the revenue recognition policies for Points.com and the Ecommerce Services are as fol-
lows:

Points.com

The Corporation earns revenue from Points.com in three ways.

First, a commission is earned for certain activities (e.g., Swap, Redeem and Earn) performed by Points.com members.

The Corporation earns commission revenue on all Swap and Redeem transactions by charging a percentage commis-

sion calculated against the value of the loyalty currency tendered for exchange by the loyalty program member. For the

Swap and Redeem models, the loyalty program operator sets the value of the currency tendered for redemption and, for

each transaction, a percentage of this value is remitted to the Corporation with the balance being used to purchase the

currency of another participating loyalty program. Swap and Redeem commissions are recognized net of costs as the serv-

ices are provided under the terms of related contracts. The Corporation also earns commission revenue each time a reg-

istered user completes an Earn transaction on Points.com. The actual commission earned varies based on the affiliate
program. Earn commissions are recognized net of costs as the services are provided under the terms of related contracts.

Second, loyalty program members may elect to pay a subscription fee to become a Points.com Gold Member. The Gold

Membership affords members certain benefits not available to registered users who have not purchased memberships.

Points.commembership dues received in advance of services are recognized over the term of service. Throughout 2006

and 2007, subscription fees for the Points.com Gold Membership were $4.95 per month or $49.95 annually. These dues

are categorized as principal revenue.

Third, the Corporation may earn a sign-up fee when a loyalty program operator joins Points.com. Loyalty program sign-

up fees for initial set-up costs are recognized evenly over the term of the contract and are categorized as principal rev-

enue.

Sale of Loyalty Currency

The Corporation earns principal revenue from the sale of loyalty program currency where it acts as a reseller of such cur-

rency, takes a principal role in the operations, marketing and commercial transaction support and assumes credit and/or

inventory risk in generating that revenue. This principal revenue is recognized when the loyalty currency has been cred-

ited to the loyalty customer account.

The Corporation earns commission revenue from the sale of loyalty program currency where it has entered into an agree-

ment with a loyalty program operator to act as an agent and earn commissions (either as a percentage of transaction value

or a fixed dollar amount per transaction) on each sale. This commission revenue is recognized as the services are pro-

vided.

Principal revenue is earned on the sale of Air Incentives and the Corporation recognizes the revenue associated with the
purchase of each airline mileage code at the time the end consumer redeems the code. If the code expires prior to re-

demption, the Corporation recognizes the revenue associated with the purchase of the unredeemed code.
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Technology design and development revenues are recorded evenly over the term of the initial contract and are catego-

rized as principal revenue. Hosting and management fees are recognized in the period these services are provided and

are categorized as principal revenue.

Other Ecommerce Services

Travel Club revenue, categorized as principal revenue, is a combination of web site maintenance and monthly program
management fees recognized in the period of service and with a profit share per membership sold which is recognized in

the period of sale.

Through all of the other types of Ecommerce Services’, such as Elite, Auction, Earn, Integrate, Book with Points, and the
sale of loyalty program branded items, the Corporation earns either a fixed dollar value per transaction or a commission

based on the value of each transaction. These revenues are recognized at the time the service is delivered and are cat-

egorized as commission revenue.

Technology design and development revenues are recorded evenly over the term of the initial contract and are catego-

rized as principal revenue.

Interest

The Corporation earns interest revenue on the cash flows created through the operation of both Points.com and Ecom-
merce Services.

KEY BUSINESS DRIVERS

Revenue growth has historically been, and will continue to be, generated by the growth of membership in and use of

Points.com and the suite of Ecommerce Services.

Growth in the number of individual members using Points.com is driven by three factors that contribute to increased web

site traffic and the ease with which a consumer can join Points.com to conduct transactions. These factors are web site

usability and enhancements, marketing (awareness and brand) and partner activity. For additional information, see

"Points.com Growth" on page 15 hereof.

Growth in Ecommerce Services will occur through the growth of existing partner relationships, supplemented with new
business relationships established throughout the year. For additional information, see "Ecommerce Services Growth"
on page 16 hereof.

While the Corporation has no control over the growth of the loyalty program industry, management considers it an important

factor in the Corporation's growth prospects. For additional information, see "Growth of the Loyalty Program Industry" on
page 17 hereof.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – REVENUE

Overview

Note:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue 2007
2006

As Restated (1)

2005

As Restated(1)

Principal $ 20,109,876 $ 3,099,182 $ 2,703,269

Commissions 10,780,678 8,373,966 6,888,260

Interest income 717,146 222,555 598,556

Total Revenue $ 31,607,700 $ 11,695,703 $ 10,190,085



Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $31,607,700, representing an increase of $19,911,997 (170%) over

the year ended December 31, 2006, this compares with prior year revenue growth of $1,505,618 (15%) over the year

ended December 31, 2005. The Corporation attributes a large portion of its 2007 revenue growth to the recognition of

revenue as gross on contracts with loyalty program operators where the Corporation has taken on a principal role under

the reseller model. As well, new products launched during the year, and organic growth of the Corporation’s existing

products. In 2007, the Corporation renewed and expanded two of its existing relationships under the reseller model,

added four new relationships under the reseller model, and sold an additional 16 products resulting in additional princi-

pal and commission revenues and grew its existing product revenue. This growth in revenue was offset by a negative for-

eign exchange impact on the Corporation's revenue. Adjusting for the impact of the weakening U.S. dollar, revenue would

have increased a further $2.98 million which would have resulted in approximately $34.59 million in revenue for the year.

Principal revenue accounted for 64%, commission revenue accounted for 34% and interest revenue accounted for 2% of

the Corporation's total revenue. Principal revenue increased by $17.0 million (over the $3.1 million in earned in 2006) as

a result of new relationships under the reseller model with ATAAirlines, Icelandair, Choice Hotels and British Midland Air-

lines and renewed relationships with Alaska Airlines and Delta Air Lines. Under these new and renewed relationships, the

Corporation takes on a principal role in a combination of the Buy, Gift and Transfer products and assumes additional re-
sponsibility for the operation of these products. Costs directly related to principal revenue increased by $14.6 million dur-

ing the year from nil in 2006 and nil in 2005, reflecting the shift to the reseller model. For additional information see "Direct
Cost of Principal Revenue" on page 18 hereof.

The Corporation experienced stronger growth in commission revenue in 2007. Commission revenue grew by $2.4 mil-

lion (29%) from $8.4 million in 2006 to $10.8 million in 2007. The prior year growth in commission revenue was $1.5 mil-

lion (22%). The majority of this growth was as a result of increased activity during the year of the Corporation’s existing

products.

Interest revenue increased $0.495 million (222%) from the year ended December 31, 2006; this compares with a de-

crease of $0.376 million in 2006 interest revenue versus 2005 interest revenue. See "Other Factors Contributing to Rev-
enue Growth – Interest ” on page 16 for additional information.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, there were three customers who each individually represented more than 10%

of the Corporation’s revenue. In aggregate these three customers represented 75% (three customers in 2006 repre-

sented 58%, and three customers in 2005 represented 49%) of the Corporation’s total revenue. In addition, 65% (2006

– 65% and 2005 – 71%) of the Corporation's amount Payable to loyalty program partners are due to these three customers.

The Corporation’s main sources of revenue are the Ecommerce Services focused on the sale of loyalty currency. The Cor-
poration now has over six years of operating history with this type of service and it has been the Corporation’s consistent

experience that these services drive a very predictable revenue stream due to the sheer size of the participating loyalty

programs’ membership bases. Management considers revenue from monthly management fees, membership fees, trans-

action fees and commissions and interest to be predictable revenue based on its extensive operating experience.

The Corporation’s operations are not significantly influenced by seasonality. However, one loyalty program operator’s Elite
product is only available to its members from late January to mid April with most activity occurring in February and March.

In addition, the Corporation experiences slightly higher activity in November and December on Points.com as members

Redeem miles and points for gift certificates. During July and August, the Corporation experiences a slight decline in ac-

tivity on the majority of its products as fewer consumers are online transacting miles and points. This modest decline (per

product) has occurred in each of the past three years.

Revenue Growth

Revenue growth has historically been and will continue to be generated by the growth of membership in and use of

Points.com as well as the suite of Ecommerce Services. Growth in usage will occur from the growth of existing relation-

ships, supplemented with new business relationships established throughout the year. Management expects the exist-

ing contracts to continue to generate growing revenues and, based on continuing business development efforts, is

optimistic about new revenue sources in future periods.
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New Ecommerce Services

The Ecommerce Services drive revenue growth based on the number of loyalty program operators and consumer mem-

bers who participate in the various products. During 2007, two new loyalty program operators joined as Ecommerce
Services Partners, 20 additional Points.com products were placed and 16 additional Ecommerce Services were deployed
with existing and newly contracted loyalty program operators. The Corporation experienced increased growth in 2007 as

it added more Ecommerce Services Loyalty Program Partners than were added in the prior year and deployed more

Points.com products and Ecommerce Solutions, than were placed in the previous year. The addition in 2007 of Book with
Points and Global Points Exchange on Points.com, resulted in 13 of the 20 new Points.com product offerings. The Cor-

poration deployed 11 new Ecommerce Services to four newly contracted loyalty program operators and placed 5 additional

products with loyalty programs where the Corporation had an existing relationship. In 2006, the Corporation deployed 6

new Ecommerce Services to new and existing loyalty program operators.

Notes:

(1) Each Integrate partner will have third parties integrated into its technology platform. There are 18 existing partner integration
addons among the five Integrate partners as at December 31, 2007.

(2) In 2007, the Corporation deployed Ecommerce Services for four partners and ceased operations of services for two part-
ners. The two partners who shut down their services during the year continue to be partners on Points.com. In total, 16
products were deployed, while five products were lost as a result of the two partners who ceased activity.

(3) A "partner", is a loyalty program operator on whose behalf the Corporation has deployed one or more Ecommerce Serv-
ices products. As at December 31, 2007, 13 operators were partners in both Points.com and Ecommerce Services.

Selling additional Ecommerce Services is an important source of new revenue. New Ecommerce Services sold to loy-
alty program operators grow the base of products being managed and therefore the existing revenue base and, in the case

of sales to new loyalty program operators, provide an opportunity to cross sell additional Ecommerce Services with the
same loyalty program. Revenue from new Ecommerce Services declined slightly from $2.47 million in 2006 to $2.41 mil-

lion in 2007. Adjusting for the impact of the weakening U.S. dollar, revenue from new Ecommerce Services would have
increased a further $239,000, resulting in moderate growth of new revenue over fiscal year 2006. During 2006, the Travel
Club product was launched and contributed significantly to the new revenue that year. In 2007, revenue from the Travel
Club product was included in the growth of the Corporation’s existing revenues.

Management believes that its Ecommerce Services are applicable to all large loyalty program operators and will continue

to focus business development resources on both sales of new products to loyalty program operators that presently con-

tract for one or more Ecommerce Services and sales to loyalty program operators with which the Corporation does not

yet have a relationship. Management is continuing to focus on expanding the Points.com loyalty program base in 2008

Points.com and Ecommerce Services metrics 2007 2006 2005

Number of Products / Participating Loyalty Programs

Swap 29 27 23
Redeem 22 20 16
Earn on Points.com 6 3 –
Book with Points 8 – –

Global Points Exchange 5 – –

Total Points.com product installations 70 50 39

Buy 20 18 16
Gift 20 17 15
Transfer 11 8 7
Corporate 10 11 12
Elite 2 2 2
Systems Design 7 6 5
Integrate Partners(1) 5 5 6
Auction 4 1 –
Travel Club 1 1 –

Total Ecommerce Services (2) 80 69 63

Total Points.com and Ecommerce Services 150 119 102

Ecommerce Services Loyalty Program Partners(3) 24 22 22

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



across various loyalty markets. In particular, Points will continue to focus on contracting reward programs in the financial

services, gaming, hotel, retail, and online categories.

Revenue for 2008 attributable to the deployment of new Ecommerce Services is more difficult to project than growth in
existing Ecommerce Services. Future revenue growth is still substantially dependent upon new contracts for the suite of

Ecommerce Services products. While management expects continued business development success, there is no cer-

tainty that the Corporation will continue its past success at acquiring new contracts.

Growth in Existing Ecommerce Services

The large majority of existing Ecommerce Services products that Points operates continue to grow year-over-year through

increased consumer awareness, consumer adoption, and loyalty program growth. In addition to this organic growth,

Points has experienced significant revenue growth through the conversion of certain existing relationships from the agency

model to the reseller model and for which the Corporation now acts as a principal. As Points earns a retail margin on trans-

action fees charged directly to loyalty program members under the principal model or commissions from the loyalty pro-

gram operators under the agency model and as use of the products continue to grow, Points expects to continue to derive

significant revenue from its existing products.

Revenue from existing Ecommerce Services went from $9.0 million in 2006 to $28.5 million in 2007. This increase can

be attributed primarily to the conversion in the year of two existing relationships from the agency model to the reseller

model and organic growth across the Corporation’s existing products. Adjusting for the impact of the weakening U.S. dol-

lar, revenue from existing Ecommerce Services would have increased a further $2.8 million.

Points.com Growth

Currently, the Points.com business model is dependent on the total number of registered users, the number of registered

users completing Swap, Redeem, Earn, Book with Points, or Global Points Exchange transactions (referred to herein as
"transacting user(s)"), the total number of miles or points transacted per individual transaction, the total number of miles

or points available per registered user and the mix of loyalty programs available to consumers on Points.com.

Points and miles transacted on Points.com has increased by 17% to 1.5 billion miles/points transacted versus 1.3 billion

miles/points in 2006 and 590 million miles/points in 2005, a 153% increase. The majority of this increase is as a result of

the increase in the total registered users during the period and the mix of loyalty programs available to consumers on

Points.com. While points and miles transacted increased during the year, the new registered users added during the

year has decreased as a result of management focusing resources on targeting higher value users Current Liabilities in

its customer data base.

Note:

(1) Total registered users consist of the number of registered users at the beginning of the period plus new

registered users for the period less users who have deregistered during the period.

The number of transacting users and the number of transactions are driven by two factors. First, web site usability and

enhancements, and second, marketing (merchandising, awareness and brand).

During 2007, the Corporation focused its resources on enhancing the product offering to consumers through adding prod-

ucts to the Points.com web site including Book with Points and the Global Points Exchange. The Corporation will con-
tinue to launch a more robust offering through enhancements to its new products throughout 2008. Management expects

that these additional products and continued enhancements to the web site will increase the number of miles/points trans-

acted in 2008.
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Points.com metrics as at December 31, 2007 2006 2005

New registered users 312,946 454,424 450,647

Total registered users(1) 1,840,591 1,531,449 1,082,936

Points/ Miles Transacted (000,000s) 1,501 1,287 593

Cumulative Points/ Miles Transacted (000,000s) 4,074 2,573 1,286
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In 2007, an additional element of targeting was introduced to the Points.com marketing mix. The Corporation’s econom-

ics are more significantly affected by the number of miles or points transacted than the number of transactions and, ac-

cordingly, in concert with the focus on generating additional transactions, the Corporation began focusing resources on

targeting higher value users in its base. Higher value users are defined as those users with larger balances of miles/points

in their accounts or those that are in the top tiers of their respective programs. The Corporation anticipates that the aver-

age transaction size will increase as a result.

Ecommerce Services Growth

Each web site or web site component created as a part of an Ecommerce Services product offering has been designed
with the relevant loyalty program's look and branding, and is directly accessible to the loyalty program’s members from

the loyalty program web site. Activity generated through these products is primarily a function of the loyalty program mar-

keting efforts. Points has begun to take a principal role in certain transactions conducted directly with certain loyalty pro-

grams' members. This role allows Points to have more influence over the marketing aspects of the products, which should

lead to increased growth in transactions. Continuing to develop this principal activity is a main focus of the Corporation

and is the foundation of much of the new business development activity now underway.

Points has seen continuous growth in the transactions conducted through its Ecommerce Services products since each
launch and management expects this trend to continue for new and existing products. In addition, Points has recently en-

gaged in discussions with a select group of loyalty program operators to apply its online marketing and other "best prac-

tices" to stimulate increased transaction activity on those operators' web sites run and hosted by Points. The objective is

to increase transaction revenue for select products with select loyalty program operators in 2008 by incorporating the

Corporation's subject matter expertise and merchandising experience. The Corporation has commenced implementation

of several initiatives in this regard.

Other Factors Contributing to Revenue Growth

In addition to the sources of revenue and growth described above, three other factors contribute to the Corporation's fi-

nancial performance: interest revenue; fluctuations in foreign exchange rates; and the growth of the loyalty program in-

dustry.

Interest Revenue

In 2007, the Corporation earned interest revenue of $717,146, compared with $222,555 in 2006 and $598,556 in 2005.

The increase in interest revenue relative to 2006 and 2005 is a function of a higher balance of funds invested at higher

yields. Funds continue to be invested in short-term and money market instruments. Points' short-term investments are

valued quarterly at the lower of cost or market value. At December 31, 2007, the Corporation's investments were earn-

ing interest between 3.7% and 6.1% per annum.

Foreign Exchange Rates

The translation of the Corporation's revenues and expenses is, and will continue to be, sensitive to changes in the U.S. /

Canadian foreign exchange rate ("FX Rate"). Changes to the FX Rate will have greater impact on the Corporation's rev-

enue than on its expenses as approximately 95% of the Corporation's revenue is in U.S. dollars and the remaining 5% is

split between Canadian dollars, Euros, British Pounds and Swiss Francs. Management expects that the percentage of

U.S. dollar revenue will not decrease significantly in the near future. In 2007, approximately 43% of the Corporation's ex-

penses (excluding interest on preferred shares) were in Canadian dollars and 56% were U.S. dollar-based. The Corpo-

ration does not have material foreign exchange risk with its cash expenses as it has sufficient foreign currency reserves

to meet its foreign obligations.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Ecommerce Services metrics 2007 2006 2005

Points Transacted (000,000s) 9,428 6,452 5,243

Cumulative Points Transacted (000,000s) 30,026 20,598 14,146



In 2007, the average FX Rate (US$1.0 = C$ 1.066) used to translate revenue and expenses into Canadian dollars has

continued to decline. For the impact of the foreign exchange rate on the Corporation’s revenues, see "Results of Opera-
tions – Revenue, Overview" on page 12 hereof.

Note:

(1) Source: www.oanda.com

Growth of the Loyalty Program Industry

The proliferation of loyalty programs in North America and around the world has been a phenomenon of the new millen-

nium. Management understands that members of loyalty programs are much more likely to utilize Points.com and the

other products from the suite of Ecommerce Services when they are close to a level at which they can redeem an award.

The redemption level for an award varies by type of award (for example, a business-class flight takes more miles than an

economy-class flight) and by program type (the "cost" of a flight typically starts at between 15,000 and 25,000 miles

whereas a night in a hotel starts at 5,000 points). Therefore, growth in consumer loyalty program account balances will

create demand for Ecommerce Services. Growth in program balances is a function of the growth in the number of pro-

grams, the number of participating consumers, time, and the number of consumers moving through a loyalty redemption

(for example, receiving a reward of some type).

According to the Colloquy Group, a leading consultant and research firm focused on the loyalty marketing industry, the

average annual loyalty membership growth between 2000 and 2006 was 5.93%, more that twice the annual growth rate

of the U.S. Consumer Price Index. In that time, U.S. loyalty memberships grew from 973 million to over 1.3 billion, and

the average U.S. household now belongs to approximately 12 loyalty programs. In summary, the loyalty program indus-

try has seen significant growth in memberships in recent years.
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U.S. / Canadian FX Rates (1) 2007 2006 2005

Period Start 1.166 1.166 1.205

Period End 0.982 1.166 1.166

Twelve Month Average 1.066 1.132 1.212
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – EXPENSES

Expenses increased in 2007 by 88% relative to 2006 versus a 2% increase in expenses in 2006 relative to 2005. Mate-

rial changes in expenses are described in each section below.

Notes:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

(2) Employment costs include salaries, employee stock option expense, contract labour charges, recruiting,

benefits and government charges (Canada Pension Plan and Employment Insurance).

(3) Technology expenses include online hosting and managed services, equipment rental, software licenses and

capital lease expenses.

(4) Operating expenses expenses include travel, professional fees, insurance, office rent, office expenses, cap-

ital tax and regulatory expenses.

As the Corporation continues to increase loyalty program participation in and sales of Ecommerce Services, significant
resources continue to be required. Management has made revenue growth of the underlying business the highest prior-

ity while continuing to be diligent about controlling costs and capital expenditures.

Direct Cost of Principal Revenue

Direct cost of principal revenue was introduced in the first quarter of 2007 and relates to any direct cost associated with

generating revenue directly from the loyalty program members through the Ecommerce Services or fulfilling redemption
of certain Ecommerce Services product offerings. See “Revenue Recognition Policies” on page 11 hereof for a descrip-
tion of the revenue that these costs are associated with.

The cost of principal revenue was $14.6 million in 2007. These new costs result from the introduction of the reseller

model for Ecommerce Services pursuant to which Points acts as the end retailer of the loyalty program currency, buying

the currency at a wholesale value from the loyalty program and reselling it to retail customers. These costs include the

direct cost of the loyalty currency purchased. The Corporation expects these costs to continue to grow in line with rev-

enue growth as it takes on a more active role as a reseller and expands and grows its principal revenues.

Under the reseller model, the Corporation has made contractual commitments with respect to the minimum values of loy-

alty currency to be purchased over the term of it agreements. The Corporation does not anticipate that it will incur any fi-

nancial obligations as a result of the contractual commitments. For additional information, see "Revenue Commitments"
on page 28 hereof.

Employment Costs

Employment costs increased in 2007 by 14% relative to 2006 versus no change in 2006 relative to 2005. The increase

General and Administration Expenses 2007

2006

As Restated(1)
2005

As Restated(1)

Direct cost of principal revenue $14,585,813 $ – $ –

Employment costs(2) 9,291,645 8,157,264 8,263,632

Sales commission and related exp. 1,618,877 818,187 627,018

Marketing and communications 1,650,075 2,607,609 2,217,032

Technology services(3) 918,140 1,055,967 1,103,563

Amortization of property and equipment 1,817,783 1,702,535 1,346,320

Amortization of intangible assets 760,495 890,346 1,143,884

Amortization of deferred costs 472,794 531,699 531,699

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 547,186 9,319 490,039

Operating expenses (4) 3,159,014 2,739,527 2,514,213

Total $34,821,822 $18,512,453 $18,237,400



in employment costs in 2007 was in line with the increased headcount which grew from 62 at the end of 2006 to 72 at the

end of 2007. In addition to the increased headcount, short-term contractors increased from 6 in 2006 to 27 at the end of

December 2007. The increase in employees and contractors during the year was a result of the increased sales of new

products during the year as well as the development of new proprietary technology for which certain costs have been cap-

italized. See page 26 “Property and Equipment” for more information.

As at December 31, 2007, the Corporation had 72 full-time employees.

Note:

(1) Headcount includes active employees and contractors covering a leave of absence for full-time

positions within the department.

In accordance with CICAHandbook Section 3870, employment costs include the expense for stock-based compensation

issued to employees. The increase in employee stock option costs versus 2006 is related to options granted to new and

existing executives and one new member of the board of directors. The cost of stock options is included in employment

costs as follows:

Sales Commissions and Related Expenses

Sales commissions and expenses in 2007 increased by $800,690 or 98% over 2006, compared to an increase of $191,169

in 2006 over 2005. Sales commissions are primarily related to Ecommerce Services and will continue to vary according
to loyalty programs contracted and growth of existing products. The majority of the current year-over-year increase is due

to Ecommerce Services revenue increasing and the increased responsibility the Corporation has taken on with respect
to certain products. A large portion of the increase relates to credit card fees and related costs incurred by the Corpora-

tion in offering these products. Management expects sales commissions and expenses to increase in 2008 through

growth in existing and new Ecommerce Services business contracted.

Marketing and Communications

Marketing costs in 2007 decreased $957,533 or 37% versus 2006, compared to an increase of $390,577 in 2006 over

2005. During 2006, the Corporation broadened its marketing initiatives to include trials of off-line advertising. The results

of these tests were less effective at driving registered users and transacting users than the marketing channels available

through the Corporation's loyalty program partners and at a significantly higher cost per transacting user. Due to the off-

line marketing results, the Corporation reduced the level of its variable and discretionary marketing expenditures in 2007

versus 2006. The marketing and branding foundation built in 2005 and 2006 has also made it possible to effectively ex-

ecute efficient and productive promotions with loyalty program operators. Advertising expenditures are now focused on

loyalty program marketing initiatives, increasing the number of placements on contracted loyalty program web sites and

the effectiveness of existing placements. In addition, the Corporation has begun marketing initiatives, in certain cases at

its own cost, to grow Ecommerce Services revenue.
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As at December 31,

Full-Time Headcount(1) by Department 2007 2006 2005

Technology 31 27 45

Finance and Administration 17 14 15

Business Development & Account Management 12 10 9

Marketing and Customer Service 12 11 16

Total Full Time Employees 72 62 85

Short-Term contractors 27 6 5

2007 2006 2005

Employee Stock Option Expense 583,934 366,981 408,435
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Technology Services

A large portion of the Corporation’s technology services costs are incurred in U.S. dollars. These costs have grown only

marginally over the past three years after adjusting for the impact of the weakening of the U.S. dollar. Although in gen-

eral, technology services costs increase in increments based on business growth, product performance, and hardware

and software operating capacity, the Corporation has been able to work with its service provider to control these increases,

while not impacting the technology and services that operate the Corporation's businesses. Management expects these

costs to grow marginally in 2008 with the continued expansion of Ecommerce Services.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses include office overhead, travel expenses, professional fees and other costs associated with opera-

tions. Operating expenses in 2007 increased by $419,487 or 15% over 2006, up from an increase of $225,314 in 2006

over 2005. The increase is primarily a result of the increased professional fees associated with consulting services and

audit fees related to Sarbanes-Oxley ("SOX") compliance, and increased office and rent expense during the year.

Non-GAAP measure – Earnings (loss) before interest, amortization and foreign exchange (“EBITDA”)

Management recognizes that the earnings (loss) before interest, amortization and foreign exchange, hereafter referred

to by management as EBITDA, is a non-GAAP financial measure which does not have any standardized meaning pre-

scribed by GAAP and is therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. However,

management believes that EBITDA is an important internal measure and financial benchmark for its shareholders be-

cause it is a recognizable and understandable measure of the Corporation's cash utilization or growth, and is a standard

often scrutinized by investors in small to mid-capitalization companies. For example, the Corporation has incurred large

non-cash expenses (amortization) over the past several fiscal years that distort the financial and strategic gains the Cor-

poration has made. EBITDA is used internally to evaluate performance and employee bonuses are based on achieving

an EBITDA target determined by the Board of Directors.

Reconciliation of Net Loss to EBITDA

Note:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, the Corporation's EBITDA was $384,136. This compares with negative

EBITDA of ($3,682,851) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 and a negative EBITDA of ($4,535,373) for the fis-

cal year ended December 31, 2005. Adjusting for the impact of the weakening U.S. dollar, EBITDAwould have increased

a further $1.1 million, which would have resulted in $1.5 million in EBITDA for 2007. Management expects to continue to

achieve positive EBITDA for fiscal year 2008. See "Forward-Looking Statements" on page 5 hereof for safe harbour pro-
visions.

2007
2006

As Restated(1)
2005

As Restated(1)

Net Loss $(4,436,335) $(8,186,063) $(10,141,462)

Add back:

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,817,783 1,702,535 1,346,320

Amortization of intangible assets 760,495 890,346 1,143,884

Amortization of deferred costs 472,794 531,699 531,699

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 547,186 9,319 490,039

Interest on preferred shares 1,168,728 1,109,823 1,049,367

Interest, loss on short-term investment and capital tax 53,485 64,737 265,974

Interest on convertible debenture – 194,753 778,806

Earnings (loss) before interest, amortization and

foreign exchange- EBITDA
$ 384,136 $(3,682,851) $(4,535,373)



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – NON-CASH EXPENSES

Amortization Expenses

The Corporation’s recorded amortization expense of $3,151,072 in 2007 compared to $3,124,580 in 2006 and $3,021,903

in 2005. There were no significant changes in amortization expense compared to prior periods. This is consistent with

the moderate levels of capital spending over the same time frame. Amortization expenses are outlined in the following

table:

Other Non-Cash Expenses

Foreign Exchange Loss (Gain)

The foreign exchange loss (gain) arises from re-valuing certain balance sheet accounts (e.g., U.S. dollar denominated cash

and short-term investments and U.S. dollar denominated deposits). At period end, balance sheet accounts are translated

in accordance with the period-ending foreign exchange (“FX”) rate. To the extent that the foreign denominated assets and

liabilities are not equal, the net effect after translating the balance sheet accounts is charged to the income statement. The

Corporation has no control over the FX loss (gain) from one period to the next. In general and strictly relating to the FX

loss (gain) of translating certain balance sheet accounts, a strengthening U.S. dollar will lead to a FX gain while a weak-

ening U.S. dollar will lead to a FX loss. During the year ended December 31, 2007, cash decreased by approximately

$2.7 million as a result of the foreign exchange impact from cash held in other currencies. This decrease was offset by

a positive approximately $3.2 million exchange impact on non-cash balances related to operations, primarily comprised

of a decrease in deposits. The net effect for the twelve month period was an unrealized exchange gain of approximately

$481,094.

Interest on Convertible Debentures / Interest on Preferred Shares

OnApril 12, 2006, Points’ 8% Unsecured Convertible Debentures automatically converted into approximately 18.9 million

common shares. As a result, accrued interest on the principal amount of the Debentures ceased to be payable. In 2006

up to the date of conversion, interest on the outstanding principal amount of the Debenture accrued at 8% per annum.

Interest on the Corporation's Series Two Preferred Share and the Series Four Preferred Share (collectively the “Preferred

Shares”) accrues on the principal amount at 7% per annum. The Preferred Shares mature on March 31, 2013. See "Pre-
ferred Shares" on page 28 hereof for additional information.
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Amortization Expense 2007 2006 2005

Deferred Costs $ 472,794 $ 531,699 $ 531,699

Intangible Assets 760,495 890,346 1,143,884

Property and Equipment 1,817,783 1,702,535 1,346,320

Total $ 3,051,072 $ 3,124,580 $3,021,903
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – EARNINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Loss

The Corporation reported a net loss of $4,436,335 for the fiscal year 2007, compared with a net loss of $8,186,063 for

the fiscal year 2006, an improvement of $3,749,728. In 2006, the net loss improved by $1,955,399 from a net loss of

$10,141,462 in 2005. The decrease in the net loss was primarily a function of revenue growth exceeding the increase in

expenses. Revenue grew by $19,911,997 in 2007, while general and administrative expenses increased $16,309,369

and other expenses decreased by $147,100.

Shareholders' Equity

The deficit in shareholders' equity declined from a negative $4,656,028 at December 31, 2006 to negative $7,063,157 at

December 31, 2007. The reduction was the result of the net loss for the year and partially offset by the exercise of stock

options and warrants during the year.

Loss Per Share

The Corporation's loss per share is calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of outstanding Common

Shares for the period, which amounted to 118,307,829 Common Shares for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared

with 108,258,453 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

The Corporation reported a net loss of $0.04 per share for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007, compared with a

net loss of $0.08 per share for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006, a 50% improvement. For the comparable pe-

riods, the impact on the loss per share of the diluted shares outstanding is equal to basic loss per share as the effect of

conversions, options and warrants is anti-dilutive and not disclosed.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – FOURTH QUARTER 2007

Revenue

Note:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

Revenue increased by $10,615,463 or 293% over the fourth quarter of 2006 and increased by $6,703,021 or 89% over

the third quarter of 2007. Principal revenue, where the Corporation records gross revenue, accounted for the majority of

the growth as a result of the new and renewed relationships under the reseller model. Commission revenue also in-

creased by $230,607 or 9% over the fourth quarter of 2006 and by $251,848 or 10% over the third quarter of 2007 due

to new product activity and growth in existing activity.

Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $6,595,143 over the third quarter of 2007 and by $10,707,008 versus

the fourth quarter of 2006. The majority of the increase is related to the increased direct cost of principal revenues, in-

creased employment costs and increased sales commission and related expenses.

Notes:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

(2) Employment costs include salaries, employee stock option expense, contract labour charges, recruiting,

benefits and government charges (Canada Pension Plan and Employment Insurance).

(3) Technology expenses include online hosting and managed services, equipment rental, software licenses

and capital lease expenses.

(4) Operating expenses expenses include travel, professional fees, insurance, office rent, office expenses, cap-

ital tax and regulatory expenses.

For the three months ended

General & Administrative Expenses Dec. 31, 2007 Sep. 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

As Restated(1)

Direct cost of principal revenue $ 9,327,963 $ 3,289,403 $ –

Employment costs(2) 3,022,793 2,074,175 1,775,916

Sales commission and related exp. 379,022 399,835 289,440

Marketing and communications 343,970 546,818 722,077

Technology services(3) 184,400 237,037 209,012

Amortization of property and equipment 472,696 442,625 428,223

Amortization of intangible assets 154,384 202,037 210,257

Amortization of deferred costs 118,199 118,198 132,926

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 92,828 244,212 (217,379)

Operating expenses(4) 771,954 718,726 610,729

Total $14,868,209 $ 8,273,066 $ 4,161,201

For the three months ended

Revenue

Dec. 31, 2007 Sept. 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

As Restated(1)

Principal $11,288,359 $ 4,842,408 $ 1,110,988

Commission 2,690,395 2,438,547 2,459,788

Interest 255,759 250,537 48,273

Total Revenue $14,234,513 $ 7,531,492 $ 3,619,049

23

POINTS INTERNATIONAL LTD.

2007 Annual Report



24

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The direct cost of principal revenue increased by $6,038,560 over the third quarter of 2007 as a result of the increase in

activity during the quarter from new and renewed relationships under the reseller model. These costs were new to the

year as a result of the Corporation taking on a more active role as a reseller and were not included in prior years.

Employment costs increased by $948,618 over the third quarter of 2007 and by $1,246,877 over the fourth quarter of 2006.

The increase over the third quarter is as a result of increased contract labour expense as contractors employed increased

to 27 at December 31, 2007 from 18 at September 30, 2007, expense related to the Corporation’s bonus plan, one-time

severance costs and higher recruiting expenses during the quarter.

Non-GAAP measure – Earnings (loss) before interest, amortization and foreign exchange (“EBITDA”)

Reconciliation of Net Loss to EBITDA

Note:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

EBITDA is a non-GAAPmeasure used by the Corporation. For a complete explanation, see “Non-GAAPmeasure – Earn-
ings (loss) before interest, amortization and foreign exchange (“EBITDA”)”, on page 20 hereof.

For the three months ended December 31, 2007, the Corporation's EBITDA was $204,411. This compares with EBITDA

of $265,498 for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and $11,875 for the three months ended December 31,

2006.

Net Loss

The Corporation reported a net loss of $935,195 for the fourth quarter of 2007, compared with a net loss of $1,009,274

for the third quarter of 2007 and a net loss of $812,864 in the fourth quarter of 2006. The decrease in the net loss over

the third quarter of 2007 was primarily a function of revenue growth exceeding the increase in expenses.

The $122,332 increase in net loss over the fourth quarter of 2006 is as a result of a $310,207 increase in the foreign ex-

change loss, an increase in employment costs related to bonus and severance of $602,623, offset by a $790,498 im-

provement in all other items included in the net loss.

For the three months ended

Reconciliation to EBITDA Dec. 31, 2007 Sept. 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

As Restated(1)

Net Loss $ (935,195) $(1,009,274) $ (812,864)

Add back:

Amortization of property and equipment 472,696 442,625 428,223

Amortization of intangible assets 154,384 202,037 210,257

Amortization of deferred costs 118,199 118,198 132,926

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 92,828 244,212 (217,379)

Interest on preferred shares 292,182 292,182 277,456

Interest, loss on short-term investment

and capital tax 9,317 (24,482) (6,744)

Earnings (loss) before interest, amortiza-

tion and foreign exchange - EBITDA $ 204,411 $ 265,498 $ 11,875



LIQUIDITY

Overview of Liquidity

Management views liquidity as the Corporation's ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet its obligations as they be-

come due. Balance sheet liquidity indicators provide management with a test of the Corporation's current liquidity. Bal-

ance sheet indicators of liquidity include cash and short-term investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable.

Earnings (loss) before interest, amortization and foreign exchange is seen by management as a key indicator of the

change in the liquidity of Points' operations over a defined period of time. As the Corporation continues to add contracts

to its portfolio of Ecommerce Services and to Points.com, revenue is expected to grow, resulting in increased liquidity.

Current Assets

The Corporation had current assets of $40,880,983 at December 31, 2007, compared to $29,407,867 at December 31,

2006.

Note:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

Current assets increased by $11,473,116 compared to December 31, 2006. The increase in current assets relative to the

previous year-end is primarily related to the increase of $9,195,261 in the amounts payable to loyalty program partners

and the $1,445,272 in cash proceeds received from the issuance of capital stock related to stock based compensation

during the year. See “Current Liabilities” on page 27 hereof for growth in current liabilities attributed to amounts payable
to loyalty program partners.

Cash from Exercise of Certain Warrants and Options

Certain "in-the-money" warrants and options are due to expire within 12 months from the date of this MD&A. Assuming

that the market price of the common shares remains above the exercise price of these securities, management expects

the securities to be exercised. If exercised in full, the proceeds from the exercise of these securities will increase cash

by $738,837. Assuming the exercise in full of these securities, issued and outstanding common shares will increase by

756,370 shares.

Securities with Near-Term Expiry Dates – Outstanding Amounts as at December 31, 2007

As at December 31, 2007 2006

As Restated(1)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,148,331 $ 19,758,490

Funds receivable from payment processor 5,034,223 3,710,341

Short-term investments 7,272,200 –

Security deposits 1,533,073 1,220,209

Accounts receivable 3,293,291 2,375,966

Current portion of future income tax asset 590,000 –

Current portion of deferred costs 274,327 283,649

Prepaids and sundry assets 1,735,538 2,059,212

Total Current Assets $ 40,880,983 $ 29,407,867

Security Type Expiry Date Number Strike Price Proceeds

Options 02/16/2008 65,000 0.22 $ 14,300

Options 04/29/2008 7,500 0.87 6,525

Options 08/19/2008 15,000 0.95 14,250

Options 11/19/2008 20,000 1.01 20,200

Options 12/16/2008 500,000 1.12 560,000

Warrants 04/04/2008 148,870 0.83 123,562

Total 756,370 $ 738,837
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Subsequent to year end, and as at March 4, 2008, the following securities due to expire within 12 months have been ex-

ercised or expired:

Accounts Receivable

The Corporation expects accounts receivable to grow proportionately with growth in revenue; however there is some

variability in this trend. Management deems the risk of bad debts to be nominal based on the structure and nature of the

Corporation's business and the corresponding cash flows.

Ability to Fund Future Growth

In 2007, the Corporation had cash flows provided by operating activities after changes in non-cash balances related to

operations of $11,017,625 compared to $2,029,643 in fiscal year 2006. The cash flow increase is primarily attributable

to an increase in amounts payable to loyalty program partners from new Ecommerce Services products, increased sales
volume of existing partners and an improvement in revenue net of cash expenses for the year ended December 31, 2007.

The Corporation expects to continue to generate positive cash flows from operations for the 2008 fiscal year by achiev-

ing positive EBITDA and continuing to grow the Corporation's amounts payable to loyalty partners through new Ecom-
merce Services products and growth of existing products.

Property and Equipment

The Corporation reported a decrease in net book value of property and equipment in the fiscal year ended December 31,

2007 due to amortization exceeding the additions during the period. Additions of $865,008 in 2007 include capitalized

employment costs for two new Points.com products, Book with Points and Global Points Exchange, and costs related to
the development of new Ecommerce Services products during the year. See "Capital Resources – Planned Capital Ex-
penditures" on page 29 hereof for additional information.

Additional capitalized development costs associated with the Corporation's technology will increase property and equip-

ment and the corresponding amortization in 2008 and beyond.

Goodwill

Goodwill originated from the acquisition of the MilePoint business assets in 2004. In accordance with CICA Handbook

section 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, impairment is assessed annually by the Corporation at the fiscal

year-end. Management tested the acquisition goodwill for impairment at December 31, 2007, and the acquisition good-

will was deemed not to be impaired. In accordance with GAAP, management will continue to test the acquisition good-

will on an annual basis.

Note:

(1) See explanations above under “Restatements” on page 6.

Security Type Expiry Date Number Strike Price Proceeds

Options - exercised 02/16/08 65,000 0.22 $ 14,300

As at December 31, 2007 2006

Furniture and equipment $ 198,157 $ 220,980

Computer equipment 278,263 262,065

Software 173,140 476,248

Technology development 1,121,995 1,638,434

Leasehold improvements 209,908 336,512

Total Property and Equipment $ 1,981,463 $ 2,934,239

As at December 31, 2007
2006

As Restated(1)

Goodwill(1) $ 4,129,069 $ 4,129,069



Current Liabilities

Current liabilities at December 31, 2007 were $35,226,828 compared with $25,142,313 at December 31, 2006. The in-

crease compared to the previous year-end is primarily related to the increase in partner deposits.

Note:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6

Funds are collected from the end consumer through the provision of the Ecommerce Services, based on gross transac-
tion value. Funds Payable to loyalty program partners include proceeds owed to the Partner for Agency transactions

based on the gross transaction value less the Corporation’s commissions as well as funds payable to loyalty partners in

order to pay for the direct cost of Principal transactions. As activity increases across all of the Ecommerce Services, the
Corporation expects funds payable to loyalty program partners to also increase.

In each period, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities include an accrual for projected employee bonuses to be

paid in February of the following year, and other accrued charges.

The Corporation has sufficient foreign currency reserves to meet its foreign currency obligations and, as such, does not

utilize any hedging or other strategies involving interest rate or currency derivatives.

Working Capital

Working capital (defined as current assets minus current liabilities) has increased from $4,254,829 at December 31, 2006

to $5,654,155 at December 31, 2007. See pages 25 through 27 hereof for additional information regarding the Corpora-

tion's current assets and current liabilities. Management expects that, through the growth of its products and its ability to

control costs, working capital will continue to improve in 2008. See "Risks and Uncertainties” on page 31 hereof for ad-
ditional information. Furthermore, the cash payments relating to the Preferred Shares occur in 2013. Management con-

siders its working capital position to be sufficient to meet both its current obligations and near-term (1-5 years) obligations.

See “Long-Term Liabilities and Commitments” on page 28 hereof for more information.

As at December 31,
2007 2006

As Restated(1)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,425,150 $ 3,342,869

Current portion of deferred revenue 1,600,194 776,251

Payable to loyalty partners 30,195,664 21,000,403

Current portion of loan payable 5,820 33,515

Total Current Liabilities $35,226,828 $25,153,038
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Long-Term Liabilities and Commitments

Notes:

(1) Represents the aggregate amount for the full duration of the contractual obligations (including years post 2012 and prior to 2008).

(2) Includes technology services commitments and hardware and software operating leases.

(3) Includes loyalty currency purchase commitments made with loyalty program operators contracted under the reseller model of Ecommerce
Solutions.

(4) Includes loyalty currency purchase commitments made with loyalty program operators for co-marketing commitments.

Elements of the foregoing table are explained in more detail in the following sections.

Preferred Shares

Unless the Preferred Shares have been converted at the option of the holder, Points will be required to redeem the Pre-

ferred Shares upon the earlier of (i) March 31, 2013, and (ii) a person (other than the holder of the Preferred Shares) ac-

quiring shares of Points sufficient to elect a majority of the Board of Directors (a "Preferred Share Change of Control").

In the event of redemption of the Preferred Shares on a Preferred Share Change of Control, the redemption amount

payable will be equal to the greater of (i) 125% of the amount equal to (A) $12,400,000 for the Series Two Preferred

Share and $3,454,611 for the Series Four Preferred Share plus (B) a return on that subscription price equal to 7% per

annum calculated on a daily basis from the date of issue of the applicable Preferred Share to the date on which the ap-

plicable Preferred Share is redeemed and (ii) the product of the number of underlying shares and the greater of (A) the

weighted average closing price of the common shares on the principal stock exchange on which the common shares then

are traded for the ten days ending on the trading day immediately prior to public announcement of the Preferred Share

Change of Control, and (B) the fair market value of the consideration paid per common share in the transaction resulting

in the Preferred Share Change of Control.

Upon the occurrence of an event that is a Preferred Share Change of Control, Points may not have sufficient cash to pay

the redemption amount on the Preferred Shares. As such, it is unlikely that management would consider a transaction

that triggered such a payment unless the transaction provided for such payment.

Operating Leases

The operating leases primarily relate to specific office technology and technology service commitments.

Revenue Commitments

In relation to the reseller model, the Corporation has made contractual commitments on the minimum value of transac-

tions processed over the term of its agreements with loyalty program operators. The Corporation does not anticipate that

Future Obligations (000,000s)

Payments due by period Total (1)
5 Years or

Greater

3-5

Years

1-3

Years
1 Year

Series Two Preferred Share

(non-cash expense until repayment)
$ 21.05 $ 16.49 $ 1.09 $ 2.60 $ 0.87

Series Four Preferred Share

(non-cash expense until repayment)
5.39 4.12 0.30 0.73 0.24

Loan Payable 0.01 – – – 0.01

Operating Leases(2) 2.52 – – 1.56 0.96

Revenue Commitments(3) 13.41 – 6.21 5.69 1.51

Purchase Commitments(4) 0.88 – – 0.07 0.81

Total Contractual Obligations $ 43.26 $ 20.61 $ 7.60 $ 10.65 $ 4.40



it will incur any financial obligations as a result of these contractual commitments. Accordingly, no amount has been

recorded in the consolidated financial statements to date.

Purchase Commitments

The partner purchase commitments relate to contractual arrangements where the Corporation has committed to purchase

loyalty currency and marketing from the partner for the purposes of promoting the Corporation’s Ecommerce Services.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Planned Capital Expenditures

Total capital expenditures in 2008 are expected to be in line with 2007 which include capitalized development, acquired

hardware and software, and leasehold improvements. Capitalized development costs are expected to continue to make

up the majority of the total expenditure in the 2008 fiscal year. The Corporation will fund 2008 capital expenditures from

its working capital.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

As at the date hereof, the Corporation has 120,160,930 common shares outstanding, one Series Two Preferred Share and

one Series Four Preferred Share. Subject to anti-dilution adjustment, the Series Two Preferred Share is convertible into

24,028,016 common shares and the Series Four Preferred Share is convertible into 5,411,434 common shares.

As of the date hereof, the Corporation has outstanding options exercisable to acquire up to 7,096,726 common shares.

The options have exercise prices ranging from $0.74 to $2.20 with a weighted average exercise price of $1.19. The ex-

piration dates of the options range from April 29, 2008 to January 24, 2013.

The Corporation’s subsidiary, Points.com Inc., has no outstanding options exercisable to acquire common shares of

Points.com Inc. The last of the previously outstanding Points.com options and their related put rights were exercised in

the second quarter of 2007.

As of the date hereof, the Corporation has outstanding warrants exercisable to acquire up to 148,870 common shares.

The warrants have an exercise price of $0.83. The expiration date of the warrants is April 4, 2008.

The following table lists the common shares issued and outstanding as at March 19, 2008 and the securities that are cur-

rently convertible into common shares along with the maximum number of common shares issuable on conversion or ex-

ercise.

Notes:

(1) Liability reduction reflects the value outstanding on the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007.

(2) The number of options available to grant is calculated as the total stock option pool, less the number of

stock options exercised, less the number of stock options granted.

Common

Shares

Proceeds on

Exercise

Liability

Reduction(1)

Common Shares Issued & Outstanding 120,160,930

Convertible Securities

Series Two Preferred Share 24,028,016 $ – $16,187,226

Series Four Preferred Share 5,411,434 – 4,119,624

Broker warrants 148,870 123,562 –

Stock options 7,096,726 8,454,436 –

Sub-Total Convertible Securities 36,685,046 8,577,998 20,306,850

Fully Diluted 156,845, 976 $ 8,577,998 $20,306,850

Securities Excluded from Calculation

Options available to grant from ESOP(2) 221,052 n/a
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

The following summary of results has been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and is reported in Canadian dol-

lars.

Notes:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

(2) In accordance with GAAP, the diluted loss per share has not been presented, as the effect would be anti-dilutive.

Note:
(1) See “Restatements” on page 6.

Notes:

(1) See “Restatement” on page 6.

(2) In accordance with GAAP, the diluted loss per share has not been presented, as the effect would be anti-dilutive.

Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2007
2006

As Restated(1)

Current assets $ 40,880,983 $ 29,407,867

Total assets 48,850,568 40,431,054

Total liabilities 55,913,725 45,087,082

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital stock 45,994,159 43,051,048

Warrants 30,668 186,688

Contributed surplus 7,945,633 8,703,518

Retained earnings (61,033,617) (56,597,282)

Total $ (7,063,157) $ (4,656,028)

Income Statement for the year ended

December 31, 2007 2007

2006

As Restated(1)
2005

As Restated(1)

Revenue $31,607,700 $11,695,703 $10,190,085

General and administrative expenses 34,821,822 18,512,453 18,237,399

Interest and other expenses 1,222,213 1,369,313 2,094,148

Net income (loss) $ (4,436,335) $(8,186,063) $(10,141,462)

Net income (loss) per share(2)

- basic $ (0.04) $ (0.08) $ (0.12)

- diluted n/a n/a n/a

Summary of Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

Quarter ended
Revenues

As Restated(1)
Net loss

As Restated(1)
Loss per share(2)

As Restated(1)

December 31, 2007 $14,234,513 $ (935,196) $ (0.01)

September 30, 2007 7,531,492 (1,009,274) (0.01)

June 30, 2007 4,614,008 (1,666,880) (0.01)

March 31, 2007 5,227,687 (824,986) (0.01)

December 31, 2006 3,619,049 (812,864) (0.01)

September 30, 2006 2,812,647 (1,890,569) (0.02)

June 30, 2006 2,546,229 (3,176,556) (0.03)

March 31, 2006 2,717,778 (2,306,074) (0.02)



RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Industry Risks

The Corporation and the majority of its partners operate in the travel industry in North America. The ability of the Corpo-

ration’s partners to continue to drive commercial activity to their businesses is integral in generating loyalty miles/points

to their respective programs. As well, the overall popularity of loyalty miles/points and value they have to end-customers

is what drives the business activity of the Corporation. Points generates the majority of its revenue from end-customers

who are transacting loyalty miles/points through the Corporation’s online solutions. As such, revenue is transactional in

nature and dependent on the number and size of these transactions.

There is no assurance that the popularity of these programs will continue to grow or maintain current levels of popularity.

A change in consumer tastes or a downturn in the travel industry in North America may adversely affect the Corporation’s

ability to generate ongoing revenue from transactions. The Corporation attempts to mitigate this risk through diversifica-

tion into other business verticals and expansion of its loyalty partner base to Europe and Asia. These alternate business

verticals include financial services, land-based retail and online retail.

Business Risks

Lack of Profitability

The Corporation has never had a profitable quarter in its operating history and may never have a profitable quarter. Net

loss for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $4,436,335 ($8,186,063 for the year ended December 31, 2006).

Limited Financial Resources

In April 2005 the Corporation issued 18,134,300 common shares to a group of accredited investors for proceeds of $12.4

million and issued to Points Investments, Inc., an affiliate of IAC/InterActiveCorp, one Series Four Preferred Share for pro-

ceeds of $3.45 million.

Notwithstanding this financing, the financial resources of the Corporation continue to be limited. For 2007, the Corpora-

tion reported total revenue of $31,607,700 and cash flows provided by operating activities of $11,017,625 as compared

with total revenue of $11,695,703 and cash flows provided by operating activities of $2,029,643 in 2006. If cash flows pro-

vided by operations do not remain positive and increase the Corporation's liquid and unencumbered cash position, it

could adversely impact the Corporation's ability to pay its liabilities as they become due and/or exploit business opportu-

nities and fund growth. Consequently, the Corporation could in the future be dependent upon its ability to obtain additional

financing either by debt, equity or other means. The ability of the Corporation to arrange such additional financing will de-

pend in part upon the then prevailing capital market conditions, as well as the business performance of the Corporation.

In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Series Two Preferred Share, IAC/InterActiveCorp has a veto right over the Cor-

poration's ability to incur debt outside the ordinary course of business. There can be no assurance that the Corporation

will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing on terms satisfactory to the Corporation.

If additional financing is raised by the issuance of common shares from treasury, control of the Corporation may change

and/or shareholders may suffer additional dilution. If additional financing is raised by the issuance of debt, the Corpora-

tion will be more highly leveraged going forward and interest payments upon such debt could have a negative impact on

the cash flow of the Corporation. If adequate financing is not available, or is not available on acceptable terms, the Cor-

poration may not be able to take advantage of opportunities, invest in technological development and enhancements or

otherwise respond to competitive pressures and remain in business. In addition, the failure to secure additional financ-

ing could result in the failure of the Corporation to meet its liabilities as they become due, which would have a materially

adverse effect on the Corporation.

Liabilities of the Corporation

As at December 31, 2007, the Corporation had outstanding consolidated current liabilities of $40,880,983 and consolidated

total liabilities of $55,913,725, including its obligations under the Preferred Shares. There is no assurance that the Cor-
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poration will be able to repay such amounts when and if they are due, as any such repayment will be dependent upon gen-

erating sufficient cash reserves and may also be dependent upon securing additional financing.

Dependence On Loyalty Partners

For the year ended December 31, 2007, three of Points’ customers represented 75% (three customers in 2006 represented

58%) of the Corporation’s total revenue. The loss of one or more of these key loyalty partners could have a material ad-

verse affect on the Corporation’s business, revenue, operating results and financial condition.

Growth-Related Risks

The Corporation may be subject to growth-related risks, including working capital constraints, capacity constraints and

pressure on its internal systems and controls. The Corporation's ability to manage its growth effectively will require it to

continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage its employee

base. Any inability of the Corporation to deal with this growth could have a materially adverse impact on its business, op-

erations and prospects.

U.S. and Canadian Securities Laws Compliance Risks

Any future changes to the laws and regulations affecting public companies, as well as compliance with existing provisions

of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 ("SOX") in the U.S. and Part XXIII.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) and related rules,

may cause the Corporation to incur increased costs as we evaluate the implications of new rules and respond to new re-

quirements. Delays, or a failure to comply with the new laws, rules and regulations could result in enforcement actions,

the assessment of other penalties and civil suits. The new laws and regulations make it more expensive for the Corpo-

ration under indemnities provided by the Corporation to its officers and directors and may make it more difficult for the Cor-

poration to obtain certain types of insurance, including liability insurance for directors and officers; as such, it may be

forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar cov-

erage. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for the Corporation to attract and retain qualified per-

sons to serve on our Board of Directors, or as executive officers. The Corporation may be required to hire additional

personnel and utilize additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services — all of which could cause general and

administrative costs to increase beyond what is currently planned. The Corporation is presently evaluating and monitor-

ing developments with respect to these laws, rules and regulations, and cannot predict or estimate the amount of the ad-

ditional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs.

The Corporation is required annually to review and report on the effectiveness of its internal control over financial report-

ing in accordance with SOX section 404 and Multilateral Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian Securities Administrators. The

results of this review are reported in our Annual Report on Form 40-F and in our Management's Discussion and Analysis

of Results of Operations and Financial Condition. Our registered public accounting firm is also required to report on the

effectiveness of management's review and on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control over financial re-

porting.

In connection with the restatement of the Corporation's previously issued financial statements (as described in “Restate-
ment” on page 6), management has concluded that the Corporation's design and control of the Corporation's disclosure
controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting were not effective as of December 31, 2007. Man-

agement's review is designed to provide reasonable assurance, not absolute assurance, that all material weaknesses ex-

isting within the Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting are

identified. Material weaknesses represent deficiencies existing in the Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures

and internal controls over financial reporting that may not prevent or detect a misstatement occurring which could have a

material adverse affect on the quarterly or annual financial statements of the Corporation. In addition, management can-

not assure you that the remedial actions being taken by the Corporation to address the material weaknesses identified

will be successful, nor can management assure you that no further material weaknesses will be identified within its inter-

nal controls over financial reporting throughout 2008.

If the Corporation fails to maintain effective internal controls over its financial reporting, there is the possibility of errors or

omissions occurring or misrepresentations in the Corporation's disclosures which could have a material adverse effect on

the Corporation's business, its financial statements, and the value of the Corporation's common shares.



Internet Viability and System Infrastructure and Reliability

The widespread growth of internet usage has caused frequent interruptions and delays in transmitting and processing in-

formation and data over the internet. There can be no assurance that the internet infrastructure of the Corporation’s own

network systems will continue to be able to support the demands placed on it by the continued growth of the internet, the

loyalty industry or that of its customers.

The viability of the internet could be affected if the necessary infrastructure is not sufficient, or if other technologies and

technological devices surpass the internet as a viable channel for business transactions.

The end-consumers of the Corporation’s software depend on internet service providers, online-service providers and the

Corporation’s infrastructure for access to the software solutions we provide to our partners. These services are subject

to service outages and delays due to system failures, stability or interruption. Our loyalty partners may lose customers

as a result of delays or interruption in service. As a result, the Corporation may not be able to meet a satisfactory level

of service as contracted, and may cause a breach of the Corporation’s contractual commitments, which could have a ma-

terial adverse affect on the Corporation’s business, revenues, operating results or financial condition.

Chargebacks

Chargebacks are any credit card transaction undertaken by an end-customer that is later reversed or repudiated. Points

is subject to exposure in regard to chargebacks, a high incidence of which could result in penalties or eventual shut down

of the payment method. As Points moves more actively to participate in its business relationships with loyalty partners

as a principal, this risk is borne by the Corporation. Risk to the Corporation from chargebacks could exceed the margin

of return to Points from the transaction being carried out. While Points has fraud control measures in place to minimize

exposure, this factor could have a material adverse effect on its business, revenue, operating results and financial con-

dition.

Contractual Performance Commitments

The Corporation, in some of its contractual relationships, has made commitments on the number of miles/points it will

process over the contract term of its agreements. The commitments are measured annually on the anniversary date of

the contracts. As a result, there is a risk that these commitments may not be met, resulting in the Corporation incurring

a financial outlay to purchase the shortfall in points/miles to meet annual contracted levels and take these into inventory.

There is a risk that in turn, the Corporation may have difficulty in selling this inventory which could have a material adverse

effect on the Corporation’s business, revenue, operating results and financial condition.

Foreign Exchange

The Corporation’s financial results are reported in Canadian currency, which is subject to fluctuations in respect of cur-

rencies of the countries in which the Corporation operates, including U.S. dollars, British pounds sterling and Euros. Ac-

cordingly, fluctuations in the exchange rate of world currencies could have a positive or negative effect on the Corporation’s

reported results. At present, the Corporation does not utilize any hedging programs to mitigate the Corporation’s currency

risk. As a result, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will not experience currency losses in the future, which

could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, revenue, operating results and financial condition.

Dependence Upon Key Personnel

The Corporation’s future success is dependent upon certain key management and technical personnel. The loss of these

individuals and the inability to attract and retain highly qualified employees could have a material adverse effect on the

Corporation’s business, revenue, operating results and financial condition.

Stock Volatility

Over the past 12 months, the market price for the Corporation’s common shares has experienced significant fluctuation

and may continue to fluctuate significantly. The market price of the Corporation’s common shares may be adversely af-
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fected by various factors such as quarterly variations in revenue and operating results, signing or loss of a customer,

changes in earnings estimates by financial analysts, speculation in the press or analyst community and general market

conditions. In addition, the stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. These

company-specific or broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of the Corporation’s common shares.

Although the Corporation’s common shares are listed and traded in Canada on the Toronto Stock Exchange and in the

U.S. on the O.T.C. Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”), this should not imply that there will always be a liquid market in the Corpo-

ration’s common shares.

Conflicts of Interest

There are potential conflicts of interest to which the directors and officers will be subject with respect to the operations of

the Corporation. As a result of the Corporation's efforts to engage people who have experience in the Corporation's area

of business, some of the directors and officers have been and will continue to be engaged in other businesses. Situa-

tions may arise where the directors and officers will be in direct competition or have an interest in parties that conflict with

the Corporation. Any such conflicts will be subject to the governance practices of the board of directors of the Corpora-

tion and governed by the law applicable to directors' and officers' conflicts of interest.

Limited Customers

There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in marketing its products to potential retail customers

and loyalty program operating partners. Competitors of the Corporation may have long-standing relationships with their

customers. As a result, it may be difficult for the Corporation to penetrate certain markets to gain new customers or loy-

alty program partners. In addition, it is possible that the Corporation will not be able to maintain its existing relationships

with retail customers and loyalty program partners.

Revenue

Operating revenue are derived from contracts for Ecommerce Services. This includes revenue in the form of develop-

ment fees, maintenance fees and commissions, membership fees and revenue from Points.com in the form of fees and

commissions. Revenue growth is dependent on attracting new partners and customers for the Corporation's business,

increasing the number of transactions engaged in by current consumers, and in securing continued contracts for its Ecom-
merce Services. Competition or other business factors may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's ability to
grow its revenue and become profitable.



OUTLOOK

Points believes it has been a pioneer in the loyalty industry, with little or no competition from parties external to the loy-

alty program operators themselves. The Corporation looks to build on its unique competitive position to further strengthen

its relationships with currently contracted loyalty program operators and to sign additional loyalty program operators, es-

pecially in less penetrated markets such as Europe and Asia, to Points.com and Ecommerce Services. To date in 2008,
the Corporation has renewed and strengthened existing relationships with five loyalty program operators and signed con-

tracts with four new loyalty program operators. The Corporation also looks to build on its proprietary technology, which

will help broaden and strengthen existing relationships and attract new relationships. New functionality being added to

the Corporation’s software offerings at the end of 2008 will allow end consumers more ways to make the most of their

points and miles, and in turn, provide more revenue opportunities for Points and loyalty program operators. Additionally,

continued expansion of the reseller model leverages Points’ experience in marketing its offerings to consumers and will

further strengthen Points’ existing relationships. Management continues to be optimistic about the Corporation's position

within the loyalty industry and its ability to service new loyalty program operators in Europe and Asia, as well as new loy-

alty program operators in non-travel business verticals, and believes that the future will continue to build upon 2007’s

milestone achievement of positive EBITDA.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Points International Ltd. are the responsibility of management and

have been approved by the board of directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally ac-

cepted accounting principles. These statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgement.

management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are

presented fairly, in all material respects.

The Corporation’s policy is to maintain systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of high quality, consis-

tent with reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is

relevant, accurate and reliable and that the Corporation’s assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safe-

guarded.

The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is

ultimately responsible for approving the financial statements. The board carries out this responsibility principally through

its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the board and is comprised entirely of outside directors. The committee meets pe-

riodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, au-

diting matters and financial reporting issues to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities. The

Audit committee reviews the Corporation’s annual consolidated financial statements, the external report of the independent

registered chartered accountants, the comments by independent registered chartered accountants on Canada-United

States of America reporting difference, auditor’s report and other information in the Annual Report. The committee reports

findings to the board for consideration by the board when it approves the financial statements for issuance to the share-

holders.

On behalf of the shareholders, the financial statements have been audited by Deloitte and Touche LLP, the external au-

ditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Deloitte and Touche LLP has full and free ac-

cess to the Audit Committee.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Corporation

in reports filed with securities regulatory agencies is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis and

is accumulated and communicated to the Corporation’s management, including the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer

and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. An evaluation was car-

ried out under the supervision of and with the participation of the Corporation’s management, including the Corporation's

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Corporation's disclosure controls and pro-

cedures (as defined in rules adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC")) as of December 31,

2007. Based on that evaluation, the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the

design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.

As discussed below, the Corporation identified weaknesses in the design and implementation of internal control over fi-

nancial reporting as at December 31, 2007. Internal control over financial reporting is a sub-set of disclosure controls and

procedures such that a material weaknesses in the former generally indicate weaknesses in the latter.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over

financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Cor-

poration’s Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and effected by the board of directors, management

and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal controls include those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable de-

tail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets of the Corporation, provide reasonable as-

surance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles, provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are made only in



accordance with authorization of management and the board of directors, and provide reasonable assurance regarding

the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Corporation’s assets that could have

a material impact on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting

may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Management, including the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness

of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). As a result of the restatements re-

flected in the December 31, 2007 financial statements and audit adjustments related thereto, the Corporation has con-

cluded that there is a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007.

The Corporatioin has not demonstrated the timely and in-depth involvement of external resources to supplement their

knowledge of generally accepted accounting principles, particularly with respect to complex revenue recognition matters

related to upfront contract initiation fees in prior years. Given that the current internal controls did not detect these past

errors, a material weakness existed as of December 31, 2007. Due to this material weakness, management, including

the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that internal control over financial re-

porting was not effective as of December 31, 2007.

The effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited

by Deloitte & Touche, LLP, Independent Registered Chartered Accountants, as stated in their report which is included

herein.

REMEDIATION

During the year, the Corporation took several measures to enhance its internal controls. Specifically, the Corporation has

supplemented its internal controls with the following remedial actions:

• In April 2007, the Corporation increased its internal knowledge both in Canadian and U.S. generally accepted ac-

counting principles with the hiring of a new Chief Financial Officer, and Director of Finance;

• When complex or unusual transactions surface, senior management has committed to actively seeking a solu-

tion in-house and then consulting third party consultants for a second opinion;

• Effective for the third quarter of 2007, third party consultants conduct a review of key events in the quarter and

provide comments on the applicable related disclosures; and

• In addition to the significant increase in generally accepted accounting principles knowledge accessible to the Cor-

poration throughout 2007, the Corporation has established a number of control procedures designed to strengthen

our capabilities to both identify and address any potential errors before they are reported in the future.

In response to the material weakness in the Corporation’s internal controls as of December 31, 2007 noted above, the

Corporation has engaged additional involvement of external resources for any new complex accounting matters. With

the implementation of these corrective actions, the Corporation believes that the above noted material weakness has

been remediated as of the release date of its December 31, 2007 financial statements. However, the effectiveness of such

procedures will not be tested until the close of the Corporation’s first quarter in 2008.

The Corporation will continue to periodically review its disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial

reporting and may make modifications from time to time as considered necessary or desirable.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There are no changes in the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31,

2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

T. Robert MacLean Anthony R. Lam

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 19, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF POINTS INTERNATIONAL LTD.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Points International Ltd. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)

as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  The Company’s management is responsible for

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal con-

trol over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Re-

porting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our

audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether ef-

fective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on assessed risk, and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for

our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s

principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s

board of directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of finan-

cial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted ac-

counting principles.  A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispo-

sitions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts

and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors

of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-

tion, use or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or im-

proper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected

on a timely basis.  Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting

to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or

that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that

there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement or the company’s annual or interim statements will not be

prevented or detected on a timely basis.  The following material weakness has been identified and included in manage-

ment’s assessment: As a result of the restatements reflected in the December 31, 2007 financial statements and audit ad-

justments related thereto, the Company has concluded that there is a material weakness in internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2007. The Company has not demonstrated the timely and in-depth involvement of external

resources to supplement their knowledge of generally accepted accounting principles, particularly with respect to com-

plex revenue recognition matters related to upfront contract initiation fees in prior years. Given that the current internal con-

trols did not detect these past errors, a material weakness existed as of December 31, 2007.  This material weakness was
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considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007, of the Company and this report does not affect our report on such

financial statements.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness identified above on the achievement of the objectives of

the control criteria,  the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsor-

ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

We have also audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Pub-

lic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and

for the year ended December 31, 2007 and our report dated March 19, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those

financial statements and included a separate report titled Comments by Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

on Canada¬-United States of America Reporting Difference referring to changes in accounting principles.

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

Licensed Pubic Accountants

Toronto, Canada

March 19, 2008



Report of Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Points International Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Points International Ltd. and subsidiaries (the “Com-

pany”) as at December 31, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss and deficit

and cash flows for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Pub-

lic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluat-

ing the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Company as at December 31, 2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in ac-

cordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established

in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-

mission and our report dated March 19, 2008 expressed an adverse opinion on the Company’s internal control over fi-

nancial reporting because of a material weakness. 

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2006 and for the year then ended (as restated) were audited

by Mintz & Partners LLP who expressed an opinion without reservation on those statements in their report dated March

7, 2007 except for Note 4, which is as of March 19, 2008.

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

Licensed Pubic Accountants

Toronto, Canada

March 19, 2008
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Comments by Independent Registered Chartered Accountants on 

Canada-United States of America Reporting Difference

The standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board  (United States) require the addition of an explanatory

paragraph (following the opinion paragraph) when there are changes in accounting principles that have a material effect

on the comparability of the Company’s financial statements, such as the changes described in Note 2(p) to the consoli-

dated financial statements.  Our report to the Board of Directors and Shareholders, dated March 19, 2008, is expressed

in accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not require a reference to such changes in accounting princi-

ples in the auditors’ report when the changes are properly accounted for and adequately disclosed in the financial state-

ments.

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

Licensed Pubic Accountants

Toronto, Canada

March 19, 2008



Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of Points International Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Points International Ltd. and subsidiaries (the “Com-

pany”) as at December 31, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss and deficit

and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-

rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of

Points International Ltd. and subsidiaries as at December 31, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash

flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

As described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of

the Company as of December 31, 2006 and for the year then ended have been restated. We therefore amended our pre-

vious report dated March 7, 2007 on those financial statements based on our audit of the effect of the restatement to the

Company’s restated financial statements as of December 31, 2006 and for the year then ended.

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Accountants

March 7, 2007 except for Note 4,             Licensed Public Accountants

which is as of March 19, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) POINTS INTERNATIONAL LTD.

AS AT December 31, 2007

Restated (Note 4)

December 31, 2006

ASSETS

CURRENT

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 21,148,331 $ 19,758,490

Funds receivable from payment processors (Note 6) 5,034,223 3,710,341

Short-term investments (Note 7) 7,272,200 –

Security deposits (Note 8) 1,533,073 1,220,209

Accounts receivable (Note 9) 3,293,291 2,375,966

Current portion of future income tax asset (Note 22) 590,000 –

Current portion of deferred costs (Note 12) 274,327 283,649

Prepaids and sundry assets 1,735,538 2,059,212

40,880,983 29,407,867

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 10) 1,981,463 2,934,239

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 11) 1,384,080 1,986,433

GOODWILL (Note 11) 4,129,069 4,129,069

DEFERRED COSTS (Note 12) 474,973 1,383,446

FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSET (Note 22) – 590,000

7,969,585 11,023,187

$ 48,850,568 $ 40,431,054

LIABILITIES

CURRENT

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,425,150 $ 3,342,869

Current portion of deferred revenue 1,600,194 776,251

Payable to loyalty program partners 30,195,664 21,000,403

Current portion of loan payable (Note 13) 5,820 33,515

35,226,828 25,153,038

DEFERRED REVENUE 380,047 422,476

LOAN PAYABLE (Note 13) – 5,289

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES (Note 15) 20,306,850 19,506,279

55,913,725 45,087,082

SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY

CAPITAL STOCK (Note 16) 45,994,159 43,051,048

WARRANTS (Note 17) 30,668 186,688

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (Note 17(g)) 7,945,633 8,703,518

DEFICIT (61,033,617) (56,597,282)

(7,063,157) (4,656,028)

$ 48,850,568 $ 40,431,054

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Doug Carty

Director

Rob Maclean

Director



FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007

Restated (Note 4)

2006

REVENUE

Principal $ 20,109,876 $ 3,099,182

Commission 10,780,678 8,373,966

Interest 717,146 222,555

31,607,700 11,695,703

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Direct cost of principal revenue 14,585,813 –

Employment costs 9,291,645 8,157,264

Sales commissions and related expenses 1,618,877 818,187

Marketing and communications 1,650,075 2,607,609

Technology services 918,140 1,055,967

Amortization of property and equipment 1,817,783 1,702,535

Amortization of intangible assets 760,495 890,346

Amortization of deferred costs 472,794 531,699

Foreign exchange loss 547,186 9,319

Operating expenses (Note 18) 3,159,014 2,739,527

34,821,822 18,512,453

OPERATING LOSS – before undernoted (3,214,122) (6,816,750)

OTHER EXPENSES

Interest on preferred shares 1,168,728 1,109,823

Interest and other charges 53,485 64,737

Interest on convertible debentures – 194,753

1,222,213 1,369,313

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (4,436,335) $ (8,186,063)

LOSS PER SHARE (Note 19) $ (0.04) $ (0.08)

DEFICIT – Beginning of year 

As previously reported $ (55,335,455) $ (47,428,760)

Effect of restatement of prior years (Note 4) (1,261,827) (982,459)

As restated (56,597,282) (48,411,219)

NET LOSS (4,436,335) (8,186,063)

DEFICIT – End of year $ (61,033,617) $ (56,597,282)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007

Restated (Note 4)

2006

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Loss $ (4,436,335) $ (8,186,063)

Items not affecting cash

Amortization of property and equipment 1,817,783 1,702,535

Amortization of deferred costs 472,794 531,699

Amortization of intangible assets 760,495 890,346

Unrealized foreign exchange loss / (gain) (481,094) 185,511

Employee stock option expense (Note 17) 583,934 366,981

Interest on Series Two and Four Preferred Shares 1,168,728 1,109,823

Interest accrued on convertible debentures – 194,753

Changes in non-cash balances related to operations (Note 20(a)) 11,131,320 5,234,058

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 11,017,625 2,029,643

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property and equipment (865,008) (1,029,936)

Additions to intangible assets (158,142) (115,164)

Purchase of short-term investments (7,272,200) –

Sales of short-term investments – 2,348,418

Payments for the acquisition of MilePoint, Inc. – (400,000)

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (8,295,350) 803,318

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of loan payable (Note 13) (32,984) (29,818)

Issuance of capital stock (Note 16) 1,445,272 437,887

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,412,288 408,069

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH HELD IN 

FOREIGN CURRENCY (2,744,722) 287,590

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,389,841 3,528,620

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – Beginning of the year 19,758,490 16,229,870

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – End of the year $ 21,148,331 $ 19,758,490



1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Points International Ltd. (the “Corporation”) include the

financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries,

Points.com Holdings Inc., Points International (US) Ltd. and Points International (UK) Limited and its indirect

wholly owned subsidiary, Points.com Inc.

The Corporation operates in one segment, providing web-based solutions to the loyalty program industry.  The

range of Ecommerce Services include the retailing and wholesaling of loyalty program currencies, a range of ad-
ditional ecommerce products that enhance either the loyalty program’s consumer offering or its backend opera-

tions, and management of an online consumer-focused loyalty points management web-portal.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting

principles (“Canadian GAAP”).  Note 28 describes and reconciles the significant measurement differences be-

tween Canadian and United States generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”) affecting the accom-

panying consolidated financial statements.  A summary of significant accounting policies is set out below:

a) Use of estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements has required management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent li-

abilities as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the revenues and expenses reported for the years then

ended.  On an ongoing basis, the Corporation evaluates its estimates, including those related to provi-

sions for doubtful accounts, the provision for transaction losses (credit card chargebacks), income taxes,

stock-based compensation, revenue recognition, goodwill and intangible assets.  The Corporation bases

its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable

under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

b) Revenue recognition 

The Corporation’s revenue is categorized as principal, commission, and interest and is generated through

the technology services provided to loyalty program partners.  Revenue is recognized when evidence of

an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable, services have been provided, and collection of

the receivable is reasonably assured.

The Corporation’s revenue has been categorized as follows:

Principal Revenue

Principal revenue groups together several streams of revenue that the Corporation realizes in delivering services

to the loyalty program industry.  The following is a list of revenue streams and the related revenue recognition pol-

icy.

(i) Technical design and development work is performed at the commencement of a business rela-

tionship with a loyalty program partner.  The majority of the technical design and development fees

are the up-front charges to cover the Corporation’s cost of setting up the loyalty program web in-

terface and customizing the look and feel of the site to that of the loyalty program partner.  Once the

loyalty program partner web site is functional, end consumers are able to transact on the site which

gives rise to transactional revenue for the term of the contract.  These fees are recorded in accor-

dance with Abstract 142 of the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC-142”) of the CICA Handbook,

“Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”.  As such, this revenue is deferred, along with

direct related costs to the extent there is deferred revenue, and recognized over the term of the
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contract, which approximates the period of expected benefit.

(ii) Customized technical design service fees are also charged to loyalty program partners who require

custom programming or web-design work that is not tied to an ongoing stream of revenue.  This rev-

enue is distinct from any other existing agreement and the delivered product has stand-alone value

to the loyalty program partner.  This revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion basis.

(iii) Reseller revenue is a type of transactional revenue that is realized when the Corporation takes a

principal role in the retailing and wholesaling of loyalty currency for loyalty program partners.  The

Corporation’s role as a principal in the transaction is determined by the contractual arrangement in

place with the loyalty program partner.  In this instance, the Corporation has a substantive level of

responsibility with respect to operations, marketing and commercial transaction support.  As well,

the Corporation assumes substantive credit and inventory risk with each transaction processed.

Revenue earned as reseller revenue is recorded on a gross basis in accordance with Abstract 123

of the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC-123”) of the CICA Handbook, “Reporting Revenue Gross

as a Principal versus Net as Agent”.  Related costs are recorded as part of direct costs of principal

revenue.

(iv) Loyalty program sign-up fees are charged to loyalty program partners at the commencement of a

business relationship to gain access to the Corporation’s proprietary Points.com web portal.  This

portal allows the end-consumers of loyalty programs to register and track the programs they par-

ticipate in and allows them to transact loyalty currency in ways that are not possible within the core

programs of the loyalty programs.  The Corporation earns ongoing revenue from the ongoing trans-

actions over the term of the contract.  As such, in accordance with EIC-142 of the CICA Handbook,

this revenue is deferred, along with direct related costs to the extent there is deferred revenue, and

recognized over the term of the contract, which approximates the period of expected benefit.

(v) Hosting fees are charged to certain loyalty program partners for the hosting of web-based services

carried out by the Corporation.  These fees are charged monthly to the loyalty program partners over

the term of the contract.  Revenue is recognized on a monthly basis over the term of the contract

as it approximates the period of expected benefit.

(vi) Management fees are charged to loyalty program partners who require custom marketing or non-

technical solutions that are not covered by any other agreements with the Corporation.  This rev-

enue is recognized in the period that the service is provided.

(vii) Membership support revenue relates to fees charged to end-consumers who have subscribed for

an upgraded membership on the points.com web portal which gives them access to telephone sup-

port, exclusive contest access and additional bonus loyalty currency.  Memberships are sold either

on a monthly or annual basis.  Revenue is recognized evenly over the term of the membership.

Commission Revenue

Commission revenue is a type of transactional revenue that is realized when the Corporation takes an

agency role in the retailing and wholesaling of loyalty currency for loyalty program partners.  The Corpo-

ration’s role as an agent in the transaction is determined by the contractual arrangement in place with the

loyalty program partner.  In this instance, the Corporation has a minimal level of responsibility with respect

to operations, marketing and commercial transaction support.  As well, the Corporation assumes minimal

credit and inventory risk with each transaction processed.  Commission revenue is recorded on a net

basis in accordance with EIC-123.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is earned on funds invested in accordance with the Corporation’s Board approved In-

vestment Policy.  Interest revenue is recognized when earned on an accrual basis.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
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c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments, with original or remaining maturity dates of

three months or less when purchased, and are carried at cost which approximates their fair value because

of the short-term maturity of the instruments.  These include cash and term deposits.

d) Funds receivable from payment processor

Funds receivable from payment processors are amounts collected on behalf of the Corporation by pay-

ment processors.  The funds are held for up to three days before being released to the Corporation.

e) Short-term investments

Short-term investments consist of highly liquid investments (term deposits) with original maturity dates be-

tween three and twelve months, are classified as held to maturity, and are carried at amortized cost using

the effective interest rate method.  At the balance sheet date, amortized cost approximated market value.

f) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.  Amortization based on the

estimated useful lives of the assets is provided using the methods and annual rates as follows:

Furniture and equipment 20% declining balance basis

Computer equipment 30% declining balance basis

Software 30% straight-line basis

Web site development and technology straight-line over 3 years

Leasehold improvements straight-line over 5 years

g) Intangible assets

Patents will be amortized over the useful life of the patent, commencing when the patents have been

granted.  As of December 31, 2007, the Corporation does not have any registered patents. Registered

trademarks have been determined to have an indefinite life and are therefore not amortized.   

The fair value of the contract-based intangible assets acquired as part of the Corporation’s acquisition of

the business assets of MilePoint, Inc. (see Note 11) are amortized over the useful lives of the related

contracts.

For finite lived assets, the Corporation assesses impairment only if impairment indicators exist.  If the car-

rying amount of the finite lived asset cannot be recovered from undiscounted cash flows, an appropriate

amount will be charged to income as an “impairment charge” at that time. 

The Corporation tests its’ indefinite lived assets for impairment at least annually, to determine whether the

carrying value exceeds the fair value.  If it is determined that an impairment exists, such impairment it is

recognized in net income at that time. 

h) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over the estimated fair

value of the tangible and intangible net assets acquired.  Goodwill is not amortized.  The Corporation

tests goodwill for impairment at least annually, at each year end, and should an impairment be deter-

mined to exist, recognizes such impairment in net income at that time.
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i) Deferred costs

Costs incurred in respect of certain financings are deferred and charged to income over the term of fi-

nancing.  Deferred finance charges represent legal and other related fees incurred to obtain the financ-

ing described in Note 15.

In relation to the Corporation’s technology design and development revenue involving revenue arrange-

ments with multiple deliverables, the Corporation incurs direct upfront contract initiation costs associated

with the web site application design and development.  Deferred costs related to the revenue streams are

deferred to the extent of the deferred revenue.  These costs are deferred over the expected life of the

agreement.

Direct costs associated with securing key loyalty program partner relationships are amortized over the

term of the relationship.

j) Payable to loyalty program partners

Payable to loyalty program partners include amounts collected through Ecommerce Services for retail-
ing, wholesaling and other loyalty currency services.  These amounts are payable to the loyalty program

partners within 45 days.

k) Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue includes proceeds received in advance for technology design and development and

membership fees for services to be provided over a future period.  Deferred revenue also includes pro-

ceeds for mileage, where the issuance to loyalty program members will occur at a later date.

l) Translation of foreign currency

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange

rates prevailing at the balance sheet date for monetary items.  Revenue and expenses are translated at

average exchange rates prevailing during the year.  Realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and

losses are accounted for and disclosed separately and are included in net earnings.

The results of foreign operations, which are financially and operationally integrated with the Corporation,

are translated using the temporal method.  Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities denomi-

nated in foreign currencies have been translated into the Corporation’s functional currency, the Canadian

dollar, at the rate of exchange prevailing at year end.  Fixed assets have been translated at the rates pre-

vailing at the dates of acquisition.  Revenue and expense items are translated at the average rate of ex-

change for the year.

m) Income taxes

The Corporation uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Future income tax

assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences between the

financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and

operating loss carryforwards.  Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or sub-

stantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary

differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on future income tax assets and liabili-

ties of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that includes the enactment or substan-

tive enactment date.

The Corporation provides a valuation allowance for future tax assets when it is more likely than not that

some portion or all of the future tax assets will not be realized.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
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n) Earnings per share

The Corporation uses Section 3500 ("Earnings per Share") of the CICA Handbook, which directs that the

treasury stock and if-converted method be used to calculate diluted earnings per share.

Diluted earnings per share considers the dilutive impact of the exercise of outstanding stock options, war-

rants, and conversion of preferred shares, as if the events had occurred at the beginning of the period or

at a time of issuance, if later.

o) Stock based compensation

Employees

The Corporation has a stock option plan for directors, officers and employees.  Effective January 1, 2003,

the Corporation adopted the amended recommendations of the CICA with respect to stock-based com-

pensation and other stock-based compensation.  The Corporation applies the fair value method to all

grants of stock options.  The fair value of options granted is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-

Scholes option pricing model incorporating assumptions regarding risk-free interest rates, dividend yield,

volatility factor of the expected market price of the Corporation’s stock and a weighted average expected

life of options.  The estimated fair value of the options that are ultimately expected to vest based on per-

formance-related conditions, as well as the options that are expected to vest based on future service, is

recorded over the option’s vesting period and charged to stock-based compensation.  In determining the

amount of options that are expected to vest, the Corporation takes into account voluntary termination be-

haviour as well as trends of actual option forfeitures.  Any consideration paid on the exercise of stock op-

tions is credited to share capital.

Non employees

For stock based compensation issued to non employees, the Corporation recognizes an asset or ex-

pense based on the fair value of the equity instrument issued.

p) Changes in accounting policies

Effective January 1, 2007, the Corporation adopted the recommendations of the CICA Handbook Sec-

tion 1530, Comprehensive Income; 3251, Equity; 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Meas-

urement; Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Measurement, Disclosure and Presentation; and Section

3865, Hedges.  As required by the standards, the change in policies have been applied retrospectively

with no restatement to prior periods.

Comprehensive income

Section 1530 establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income.  Unrealized

gains or losses on available-for-sale investments, and the effective portion of gains or losses on

derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of the net investment in self-sustaining for-

eign operations are included in other comprehensive income (“OCI” and accumulated other com-

prehensive income (“AOCI”) is included as a separate component of equity.  The Corporation had

no such OCI or loss transactions for the year ended December 31, 2007 and there were no open-

ing or closing balances for AOCI.

Financial instruments

Under the new standards, all financial instruments are classified into one of the following five cate-

gories: held-for-trading (assets and liabilities), available-for-sale financial assets, loans and receiv-

ables, held-to-maturity financial assets, and other financial liabilities.  Transaction costs are included

in the initial carrying amount of financial instruments except for held-for-trading items in which case
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they are expensed as incurred.  All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value.  Meas-

urement in subsequent periods depends on the classification of the financial instrument.  Under the

standards:

Held-for-trading (assets or liabilities)

This category is comprised of certain investments in equity and debt instruments, stand-alone de-

rivatives, other than those designated as hedging items, and embedded derivatives requiring sep-

aration.  They are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in

the income statement. 

Loans and receivables 

These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets

by a lender to a borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand.

They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (accounts receiv-

able), but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets.  They are initially recognized

at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less

any provision for impairment. 

Held-to-maturity investments 

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed ma-

turities that the company’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity and

comprises certain investments in debt securities. These assets are initially recognized at fair value

and subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any pro-

vision for impairment.  

Available-for-sale investments

Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-for-

sale and comprises certain investments in equity instruments, including a company’s investments

in private companies.  When they have a quoted market price in an active market, they are carried

at fair value with changes in fair value recognized as a separate component of other comprehen-

sive income.  When they do not have a quoted market price in an active market, they are carried at

cost. Where a decline in the fair value is determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the

loss is removed from other comprehensive income and recognized in the income statement. 

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities includes all financial liabilities other than those classified as held-for-

trading and comprises trade payables, other short-term monetary liabilities, and the debt element

of convertible debt.  These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried

at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The adoption of these standards had no impact on the opening retained earnings and therefore did

not result in a transitional adjustment as of January 1, 2007.
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The Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities are recorded and measured as follows:

Other balance sheet accounts, such as prepaid expenses, property and equipment, intangible as-

sets, goodwill, future income tax asset, deferred costs, and deferred revenue are not within the

scope of the new accounting standards as they are not financial instruments.

Hedges

The Corporation may use derivative instruments to manage foreign exchange and interest rate risk.

The Corporation may choose to designate derivative instruments as hedges.

• Cash flow hedges – The effective portion of the changes in fair value of financial instruments

designated as a cash flow hedge is recognized in OCI, net of tax, with any ineffective portion

being recognized immediately in net income.  Gains and losses are recovered from OCI and

recognized in net income in the same period as the hedged item affects net income.  If at any

point the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss rec-

ognized in AOCI is reclassified to net income immediately

• Fair value hedges – Both the financial instrument designated as the hedging item, and the un-

derlying hedged asset or liability are measured at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of both

the hedging and hedged item are reflected in net income immediately.  The carrying value of

the hedged item is adjusted through net income for changes in its fair value attributable to the

hedged risk.

Net investment hedges – Foreign exchange gains and losses on debt designated as a net in-

vestment hedge are recognized in OCI, net of tax, to the extent the hedge is effective.  The in-

effective portion of such hedges is recognized in net income.

The Corporation had no such hedges for the years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31,

2006.

3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation

In December 2006, the CICA issued Section 3863, “Financial Instruments – Presentation”, to enhance financial

statement users’ understanding of the significance of financial instruments to an entity’s financial position, per-

formance and cash flows.  This Section establishes standards for presentation of financial instruments and non-

financial derivatives. This Section replaces the existing requirement on the presentation of financial instruments

which have been carried forward unchanged. It deals with the classification of financial instruments, from the per-

spective of the issuer, between liabilities and equity, the classification of related interest, dividends, losses and

gains, and the circumstances in which financial assets and financial liabilities are offset.  This new section will place
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Asset/Liability Category Measurement

Cash and cash equivalents Held-for-trading Fair value

Funds receivable from payment processors Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Short-term investments Held-to-maturity Amortized cost

Security deposits Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Accounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities Amortized cost

Deposits Other liabilities Amortized cost

Loan payable Other liabilities Amortized cost

Convertible preferred shares Other liabilities Amortized cost
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increased emphasis on disclosure regarding the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments and

how the Corporation manages those risks.  This Section applies to interim and annual financial statements relat-

ing to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2007.  The Corporation is currently assessing the impact of

the adoption of these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2007, the CICA issued Section 3862, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”, which replaces Section

3861 and provides expanded disclosure to enable users to evaluate the significance of financial instruments for

an entity’s financial position and performance, including disclosures about fair value.  This standard harmonizes

disclosures with International Financial Reporting Standards.  This Section applies to interim and annual finan-

cial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2007.  The Corporation is currently as-

sessing the impact of the adoption of these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

International Financial Reporting Standards

In May 2007, the CICA published an updated version of its “Implementation Plan for Incorporating International

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) into Canadian GAAP”.  This plan includes an outline of the key decisions

that the CICA will need to make as it implements the Strategic Plan for publicly accountable enterprises that will

converge Canadian generally accepted accounting principles with IFRS.  The changeover date from Canadian

GAAP to IFRS is for annual and interim financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after Janu-

ary 1, 2011.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In February 2008, the CICA issued Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, which replaces Section 3062,

“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, and Section 3450, “Research and Development Costs”.  The purpose of

this Section is to establish recognition, measurement, and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets and to

provide more specific guidance on the recognition of internally developed intangible assets and requires that re-

search and development expenditures be evaluated against the same criteria as expenditures for intangible as-

sets.  The Section substantially harmonizes Canadian standards with International Financial Reporting Standards

and applies to annual and interim financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1,

2008.  It is not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.

Capital Disclosures

In December 2006, the CICA issued Section 1535, “Capital Disclosures”, which establishes guidelines for the

disclosure of an entity's objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, quantitative data about what the

entity regards as capital and whether the entity has complied with any capital requirements and, if it has not com-

plied, the consequences of such non-compliance.  Effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after October 1,

2007, this enhanced disclosure enables users to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies, and processes for man-

aging capital.  This new requirement is for disclosure only and will not impact the financial results of the Corpo-

ration.
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4. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation is restating its previously reported consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended De-

cember 31, 2006.  The following table summarizes the impact of the restatement adjustment on the previously

reported consolidated balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow amounts for the year ended December

31, 2006

2006

As

Reported

Affecting

Periods

Prior to 2006

2006 

Restatement Ref

2006 

As 

Restated

Balance Sheet Items

Cash and cash equivalents $24,689,040 $ – $(4,930,550) a $ 19,758,490

Security deposits – – 1,220,209 a 1,220,209

Funds receivable from payment processors – – 3,710,341 a 3,710,341

Current portion of deferred costs – 107,053 176,596 d 283,649

Current assets 29,124,218 107,053 176,596 29,407,867

Goodwill

Public company costs (50,000) b

Transition services costs (671,653) – c

Goodwill 4,850,722 (721,653) – 4,129,069

Deferred costs 1,167,330 92,446 123,670 d 1,383,446

Total assets 40,652,942 (522,154) 300,266 40,431,054

Current portion of deferred revenue 158,788 222,048 395,415 d 776,251

Deferred revenue – 238,257 184,219 d 422,476

Total liabilities 44,047,143 460,305 579,634 45,087,082

Deficit (55,335,455) (982,459) (279,368) (1,261,827)

Deficit - restated (56,597,282)

Liabilities and Shareholders' Deficiency $40,652,942 $ (522,154) $ 300,266 $ 40,431,054

2006

As Reported

2006 

Restatement Ref

2006 

As Restated

Income Statement Items

Total revenue $ 12,246,689 $ (550,986) d $ 11,695,703

Sales commission and related expenses 897,401 (79,214) d 818,187

Employment costs 8,378,316 (221,052) d 8,157,264 

Foreign exchange loss (gain) (19,329) 28,648 d 9,319

Net loss $ (7,906,695) $ (279,368) $ (8,186,063)

Loss per share $ (0.07) $ (0.01) $ (0.08)
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The 2006 restated consolidated cash flow includes the impact of the restatements on the previously re-

ported cash flow as well as some reclassifications made to the prior years reported amounts.  These re-

visions incorporate the reclassification of certain items and corrections to an error in the prior years

consolidated cash flow for the effect of exchange rate changes on cash held in foreign currency.

2006 

As Reported

2006 

Revised

2006 

Restatement Ref

2006 

As

Restated

Statement of Cash Flows

Net Loss $ (7,906,695) $ (279,368) d $ (8,186,063)

Items not affecting cash 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss / (gain) 2,189 208,558 (25,236) 185,511

Changes in non-cash balances related to opera-

tions

Increase in security deposits (245,421) a (245,421)
Increase in funds receivable from payment

processors – (796,848) a (796,848)

Decrease in accounts receivable 489,817 126,094 – 615,911

Increase in deferred costs – – (300,266) d (300,266)

Increase in prepaids and sundry assets (218,064) (184,791) – (402,855)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and

accrued liabilities 1,018,764 (4) – 1,018,760

Increase in deferred revenue 2,321 562,196 d 564,517

Increase (decrease) in payable to loyalty pro-

gram partners
4,820,759 (40,499) – 4,780,260

Changes in non cash balances related to opera-

tions
6,111,276 (96,879) (780,339) 5,234,058

Cash flows provided by operating activities 3,002,907 111,679 (1,084,943) 2,029,643

Effect of exchange rate changes on Cash

held in foreign currency 491,139 (111,679) (91,870) a 287,590

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,705,433 (1,176,813) 3,528,620

Security deposits (957,669) a

Funds receivable from payment processors – (2,796,068) a

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of

year
19,983,607 (3,753,737) 16,229,870

Security deposits (1,220,209) a

Funds receivable from payment processors (3,710,341) a

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ 24,689,040 $ (4,930,550) $ 19,758,490

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



The summarized 2006 restatement adjustments set out above are a result of the specific restate-

ment adjustments as follows:

(a) Restatement of Cash and Cash Equivalents, Security Deposits and Funds Receivable From Pay-

ment Processors:

Funds receivable from payment processors are amounts collected on behalf of the Corporation by

payment processors.  The funds are held for up to three days before being released to the Corpo-

ration.  As such, these amounts do not meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents as previ-

ously reported and have been moved from cash and cash equivalents to funds receivable from

payment processors.  Security deposits are amounts held on a rolling six month basis by the Cor-

poration’s payment processors that process deposit and credit card transactions.  Historically, these

amounts were recorded as a component of cash and cash equivalents, with disclosure in the notes

to the financial statements.

(b) Restatement of Public Company Costs:

In 2000, the Corporation became a public company through a reverse take over of its parent com-

pany.  Costs of $150,000 incurred to effect the reverse take over were incorrectly capitalized and

included within Goodwill.  This Goodwill item was subsequently amortized in 2000 and 2001, re-

sulting in a carrying value of $50,000 at the end of 2001.  As a result of this restatement, the 2006

opening balance for Goodwill has been reduced by $50,000 and the 2006 opening Deficit increased

by the same amount.

The effect on 2006 opening balance is as follows:

Decrease in goodwill ($150,000)

Decrease in accumulated amortization of goodwill $100,000

Increase in deficit ($ 50,000)

(c) Restatement of Transition Services Costs in Goodwill:

Costs of $365,515 and $306,138 incurred in connection with the acquisition of the assets of Mile-

Point, Inc. in 2004 and 2005, respectively, were incorrectly added to goodwill as they did not meet

the definition of an acquisition cost as defined by CICA Handbook Section 1581 (“Business Com-

binations”).  As these were integration and transition costs in nature, these costs should have been

expensed as incurred.  The financial statements of 2006 have been restated to correct these errors.

The effect on 2006 opening balance is as follows:

Decrease in goodwill ($671,653)

Increase in deficit ($671,653)

(d) Restatement of Upfront Contract Initiation Fees:

The Corporation has determined that it has contracts with multiple deliverables.  As such, the Cor-

poration has applied guidance found in Abstract 142 of the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC-142”)

of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook, “Revenue Arrangements with

Multiple Deliverables” and determined that, for some contracts, there was only one unit of ac-

counting.  In particular, for contracts which contain ongoing service requirements, fees and direct

costs for initial set-up have been deferred and recognized evenly over the term of the contract.  Pre-

viously, the fees and direct costs had incorrectly been recognized as initial set-up occurred.  The im-

pact of this correction is included below by year.  The cumulative net effects of these errors prior to

2006 are recognized in the restated consolidated financial statements of 2006.
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The effect is as follows:

2003-2005 2006

Decrease in revenue as previously recognized $ (460,305) $ (550,986)

Decrease in costs as previously recognize 199,499 271,618

Decrease in net income $ (260,806) $ (279,368)

Increase in deferred revenue $ (460,305) $ (579,634)

Increase in deferred costs 199,499 300,268

Increase in deficit $ (260,806) $ (279,368)

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:

2007 2006

Cash $ 6,518,089 $ 19,175,348

Term deposits 14,630,242 583,142

$ 21,148,331 $ 19,758,490

6. FUNDS RECEIVABLE FROM PAYMENT PROCESSORS

Funds receivable from payment processors are funds due from the Corporation’s credit card processors.  These

funds represent amounts collected from customers and are typically deposited directly to the Corporation’s bank

account within 3 business days from date of sale.  

7. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

As at December 31, 2007, the balance was comprised of $7,174,000 (2006 – nil) in term deposits with maturity

dates between 90 days and 12 months, and $98,200 (2006 – nil) deposited with the Corporation’s bank as col-

lateral for a commercial letter of credit issued in accordance with the terms of a business arrangement.   The in-

terest rate on the short-term investments at year end was 5.31%.

8. SECURITY DEPOSITS

Security deposits are amounts held by the Corporation’s payment processors as collateral in accordance with the

terms of the credit card processing agreement.  This collateral balance is based on a percentage of the Corpo-

ration’s processing volume over a six month period.

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Corporation’s accounts receivable is comprised mainly of amounts owing to the Corporation by loyalty pro-

gram partners for transactions carried out on the Points.com web site and for amounts charged with respect to

the loyalty program sign-up and the technology design and development fees.  The amount is presented net of

an allowance for doubtful accounts.  The allowance was $72,401 at December 31, 2007 (December 31, 2006 -

$86,004).

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Accumulated Net Carrying

2007 Cost Amortization Amount

Furniture and equipment $ 533,433 $ 335,276 $ 198,157

Computer equipment 856,467 578,204 278,263

Software 1,351,850 1,151,085 200,766

Web site development & technology 8,327,234 7,232,865 1,094,369

Leasehold improvements 830,418 620,510 209,908

$ 11,899,402 $ 9,917,939 $ 1,981,463

Net

Accumulated Carrying

2006 Cost Amortization Amount

Furniture and equipment $ 509,524 $ 288,544 $ 220,980

Computer equipment 745,273 483,208 262,065

Software 1,324,763 848,515 476,248

Web site development & technology 7,625,536 5,987,101 1,638,435

Leasehold improvements 829,298 492,787 336,511

$ 11,034,394 $ 8,100,155 $ 2,934,239

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

On March 31, 2004, the Corporation acquired substantially all of the business assets of MilePoint, Inc., a loyalty

program technology provider and operator.  As part of the acquisition, the Corporation acquired the customer list

and all of the contracts between MilePoint and certain loyalty program partners for the operation of technology

solutions.  The fair values assigned were as follows:

Contracts with loyalty program partners $ 3,565,000

Customer list 225,000

Goodwill 4,129,069

Total $ 7,919,069

The Corporation had previously incorrectly included $671,653 in transition service costs and $50,000 of public list-

ing costs in goodwill. These costs should have been expensed as incurred.  The financial statements of 2006 have

been restated to correct these errors. See notes 4 (b) and 4(c) for additional information. The MilePoint contracts

are being amortized over the term of their life.  The expected amortization over the next five years is as follows:

2008 $ 125,212

2009 125,212

2010 125,212

2011 125,212

2012 20,867
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets of $1,384,080 (2006 - $1,986,433) is comprised of finite lived assets and indefinite lived as-

sets.

a) Finite lived intangible assets

The Corporation has several patent applications pending approval in Australia, Canada and the United

States that relate directly to the process and technology that run the current business platform.   The car-

rying amounts are representative of actual costs incurred to date in pursuing patent applications.  Patents

will be amortized over the remaining life of the patent commencing when the patents have been granted.

To date, none of the patents have been granted and therefore no amortization has been recorded.

For finite lived assets, the Corporation assesses impairment only if impairment indicators exist.  If the

carrying amount of the finite lived asset cannot be recovered from undiscounted cash flows, an appropriate

amount will be charged to income as an “impairment charge” at that time. 

b) Indefinite lived intangible assets

The Corporation holds several trademark registrations in Canada and the United States.  The carrying

amounts of $73,887 ($73,741 - December 31, 2006) are representative of actual costs incurred to date

in registering trademarks.  Registered trademarks have an indefinite life and will not be amortized unless

it is determined that they have become impaired.

The Corporation tests its’ indefinite lived assets for impairment at least annually, to determine whether the

carrying value exceeds the fair value.  If it is determined that an impairment exists, it is recognized into

net income at that time. 

Goodwill – MilePoint acquisition

Goodwill of $4,129,069 (2006 – $4,129,069) relates entirely to the excess of the purchase price over the fair val-

ues of the business assets of MilePoint, Inc. acquired in 2004.  In accordance with the CICA handbook Section

3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, a valuation of the goodwill occurs annually at year end.  As at De-

cember 31, 2007, there has been no impairment.

12. DEFERRED COSTS

Deferred costs include deferred financing charges, direct costs associated with securing key relationships with loy-

alty program partners and the direct costs associated with the web site application development in relation to the

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2007 Cost

Accumulated

Ammortization

Net Carrying

Amount

Patents $ 788,478 $ – $ 788,478

MilePoint contracts and customer list 3,790,000 3,268,285 521,715

$ 4,578,478 $ 3,268,285 $ 1,310,193

2006 Cost

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Amount

Patents $ 630,481 $ – $ 630,481

MilePoint contracts and customer list 3,790,000 2,507,789 1,282,211

$ 4,420,481 $ 2,507,789 $ 1,912,692



Corporation’s technology design and development revenues involving revenue arrangements with multiple de-

liverables.  

Upfront contract initiation costs 2007 2006

Current $ 274,327 $ 283,649

Long term 148,593 216,116

Total $ 422,920 $ 499,765

Deferred finance charges for the Series Two Preferred Share represent legal, accounting and other related fees

incurred to obtain the financing; these costs are amortized over the term of the financing and were included in de-

ferred costs at December 31, 2006. Effective January 1, 2007, the company adopted Section 3855 (“Financial In-

struments – Recognition and Measurement”), which require that the transaction costs associated with a financing

be included in the carrying value of the financial instrument.

Direct costs associated with securing key loyalty program partner relationships and in relation to the Corporations

partner sign-up and technology design and development revenues are deferred over the expected life of the

agreement.

Accumulated Net Carrying

2007 Cost Ammortization Amount

Partnership relationship costs 2,363,958 2,037,578 326,380

$ 2,363,958 $ 2,037,578 $ 326,380

Accumulated Net Carrying

2006 Cost Ammortization Amount

Series Two Preferred Share and Warrants 589,050 220,894 368,156

Partner relationship costs 2,363,958 1,564,784 799,174

$ 2,953,008 $ 1,785,678 $ 1,167,330

As part of securing the relationship with one of the Corporation’s key loyalty program partners, the Corporation

issued shares to the loyalty program partner.  The value of these shares is being amortized over the expected ben-

efit period of this relationship.

Non- Current Deferred Costs 2007 2006

Upfront contract initiation costs 148,593 216,116

Partner Relationships & Series Two Preferred Shares 326,380 1,167,330

Total $ 474,973 $ 1,383,446

13. LOAN PAYABLE

In August of 2004, the Corporation entered into an agreement with its landlord, whereby the landlord loaned the

Corporation $107,000 in respect of amounts that the Corporation had spent on leasehold improvements.  The loan

is repayable over 43 months and bears an interest rate of 10%. There are 2 months remaining as at December 

31, 2007.
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14. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

On April 11, 2006, the common share purchase warrant held by an affiliate of IAC/InterActiveCorp, which was ex-

ercisable to acquire approximately 103 million common shares, expired unexercised.  As a result, the Corpora-

tion's 8% unsecured convertible debentures (“Debentures”) automatically converted at the agreed upon

conversion price of $0.3173 per common share as specified in the Debentures into approximately 18.9 million

common shares and the $9.9 million of principal and accrued interest on the Debentures was converted to eq-

uity.  The conversion price of the Debentures was determined to be $6.0 million based on the agreed upon con-

version price of $0.3173 per common share as specified in the Debentures agreement.

The impact on the financial statements of the expiry of the IAC/InterActiveCorp warrant was to increase con-

tributed surplus and to decrease warrants by $2,572,000 (the fair value of the warrant).  The expiry had no im-

pact on shareholder’s deficiency.  As at April 12th, 2006, the Debentures converted into equity.  The impact was

a reduction of $9.9 million in long term liabilities and the $6.0 million value (as determined by the agreed upon

conversion price) assigned to the 18.9 million common shares issued, was recorded as an increase to share cap-

ital.  The difference between the Debentures amount of $9.9 million and the $6.0 million recorded as share cap-

ital was credited to contributed surplus.

15. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

a) Series One Preferred Share

On April 11, 2006, the common share purchase warrant held by an affiliate of IAC/InterActiveCorp, which

was exercisable to acquire approximately 103 million common shares, expired unexercised.  As a result,

the Corporation's Series One Preferred Share automatically converted into one common share, elimi-

nating the significant dividend entitlement that would have been payable to the holders of the Series One

Preferred Share in certain events, including a change of control of the Corporation.

b) Series Two Preferred Share

In 2003, the Corporation issued one Series Two Preferred Share for aggregate consideration of $12.4 mil-

lion.  The Series Two Preferred Share is a voting, convertible share and ranks equally with the Series One

Preferred Share, the Series Three Preferred Share, the Series Four Preferred Share and the Series Five

Preferred Share, and in priority to the Common Shares.  The Series Two Preferred Share is convertible

until 5:00 p.m. on March 31, 2013 (Toronto time), for no additional consideration, into 24,028,016 com-

mon shares subject to adjustment in accordance with its anti-dilution protection provisions (the "Under-

lying Shares").  

The Corporation is not entitled to declare or pay any dividend on the common shares unless it concur-

rently declares and pays a dividend on the Series Two Preferred Share in an amount equal to the prod-

uct of the number of common shares comprising the Underlying Shares and the dividend declared or

paid per common share.  Any such dividend is to be paid to the holder of the Series Two Preferred Share

in the same form as it is paid to the holders of the common shares. 

The Series Two Preferred Share will automatically convert into one Series Three Preferred Share on the

earlier of the date that (i) the Series Two Preferred Share is directly or indirectly transferred to a person

that is not an affiliate of IAC/InterActiveCorp, and (ii) the holder of the Series Two Preferred Share ceases

to be an affiliate of IAC/InterActiveCorp.

If not converted, the Series Two Preferred Share will be redeemed on March 31, 2013 for the greater of

$12,400,000 plus 7% per annum calculated on a daily basis from the date of issue of the Series Two Pre-

ferred Share to the date on which the Series Two Preferred Share is redeemed and the market value of

the common shares into which the Series Two Preferred Share then could be converted.  As of Decem-

ber 31, 2007, the carrying value of the Series Two Preferred Share is $16,187,226 ($15,628,478 at De-

cember 31, 2006).  Non cash interest expense recorded in connection with the Series Two Preferred

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



Share was $926,905 (2006 - $1,109,823).  Effective January 1, 2007, the company adopted Section 3855

(“Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”), which requires that the transaction costs as-

sociated with a financing be included in the carrying value of the financial instrument.  The adoption of

this standard resulted in a reduction of $368,157 to the opening balance of the Series Two Preferred

Share.

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets

of the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the holder of the Se-

ries Two Preferred Share will be entitled to receive from the assets of the Corporation an amount equal

to the greater of (i) $12,400,000 plus 7% per annum calculated on a daily basis from the date of issue of

the Series Two Preferred Share to the date on which the liquidation event occurred and  (ii) the product

of the number of Underlying Shares and the per share amount to be distributed to the holders of the com-

mon shares upon the liquidation event after giving effect to any payments to be paid on the Series Two

Preferred Share and any other shares (other than the Series Two Preferred Share) ranking in priority to

the common shares upon the liquidation event.

The Series Two Preferred Share entitles the holder to the right to vote with the holders of common shares

on an "as converted" basis to a maximum of 19.9% of the votes that may be cast), vote separately as a

series with respect to certain material transactions and certain other matters involving the Corporation,

and elect two members to the board of directors of the Corporation and have one member sit on each

committee of the board of directors.

c) Series Three Preferred Share

The Series Three Preferred Share is a non-voting, non-convertible share ranking equally with the Series

Two Preferred Share, the Series Four Preferred Share and the Series Five Preferred Share, and in pri-

ority to the Common Shares. The Series Three Preferred Share is not entitled to receive dividends.  If is-

sued, the Corporation will redeem the Series Three Preferred Share on March 31, 2013.  In the event of

redemption on March 31, 2013, the amount payable will be equal to $12,400,000 plus 7% per annum from

the date of issue of the Series Two Preferred Share.  In the event of redemption following a specified

change of control event, the amount payable will be equal to 125% of the amount specified in the pre-

ceding sentence.

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or invol-

untary, the holder of the Series Three Preferred Share will be entitled to receive from the assets of the

Corporation an amount equal to $12,400,000 plus 7% per annum, calculated from the date of issue of the

Series Two Preferred Share to the date on which the liquidation event occurred.

No Series Three Preferred Shares are outstanding.

d) Series Four Preferred Share

In 2005, the Corporation issued one Series Four Preferred Share for aggregate cash consideration of

$3,454,611.

The Series Four Preferred Share is a voting, convertible share and ranks equally with the Series One Pre-

ferred Share, the Series Two Preferred Share, the Series Three Preferred Share and the Series Five Pre-

ferred Share, and in priority to the Common Shares.  The Series Four Preferred Share is convertible until

5:00 p.m. on March 31, 2013 (Toronto time), for no additional consideration, into 5,411,434 common

shares, subject to adjustment in accordance with its anti-dilution protection provisions.  In all material re-

spects, including anti-dilution protection, the terms of the Series Four Preferred Share are identical to the

Series Two Preferred Share.

If not converted, the Series Four Preferred Share will be redeemed by the Corporation on March 31, 2013

for the greater of $3,454,611 plus 7% per annum calculated on a daily basis from the date of issue of the
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Series Four Preferred Share and the market value of the common shares into which the Series Four Pre-

ferred Share then could be converted.  As of December 31, 2007, the carrying value of the Series Four

Preferred Share is $4,119,624 ($3,877,801 at December 31, 2006). Non cash interest expense recorded

in connection with the Series Four Preferred Share was $241,823 (2006 - $241,823).

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation, the holder of the Series Four

Preferred Share will be entitled to receive an amount equal to the greater of $3,454,611 plus 7% per

annum from the date of issuance and the product of the number of common shares into which it could

then be converted and the per share amount to be distributed to the holders of the common shares after

giving effect to any payments to be paid on shares ranking in priority to the common shares.

The Series Four Preferred Share entitles the holder to various rights, including to receive dividends with

the holders of common shares on an "as converted" basis, vote with the holders of common shares on

an "as converted" basis (in certain circumstances, to a maximum of 19.9% of the votes that may be cast

including the votes cast by the holder of the Series Two Preferred Share), vote separately as a series with

respect to certain material transactions and certain other matters involving the Corporation, and elect

one member to the board of directors of the Corporation.  If the Series Four Preferred Share ceases to

be held by an IAC/InterActiveCorp or an affiliate of IAC/InterActiveCorp, it will automatically convert into

a Series Five Preferred Share.

e) Series Five Preferred Share

The Series Five Preferred Share is a non-voting, non-convertible share ranking equally with the Series

Two Preferred Share, Series Three Preferred Share and Series Four Preferred Share, and in priority to

the Common Shares.  The Series Five Preferred Share is not entitled to receive dividends.  If issued, the

Corporation will redeem the Series Five Preferred Share on March 31, 2013.  In the event of redemption

on March 31, 2013, the amount payable will equal $3,454,611 plus 7% per annum from the date of is-

suance of the Series Four Preferred Share.  In the event of redemption following a specified change of

control event, the amount payable will be equal to 125% of the amount specified in the preceding sen-

tence.

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or invol-

untary, the holder of the Series Five Preferred Share will be entitled to receive from the assets of the Cor-

poration an amount equal to $3,454,611 plus 7% per annum, calculated from the date of issue of the

Series Four Preferred Share to the date on which the liquidation event occurred.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
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No Series Five Preferred Shares are outstanding.

16. CAPITAL STOCK

Authorized

Unlimited Common Shares

1 Series Two Preferred Share 

1 Series Three Preferred Share 

1 Series Four Preferred Share

1 Series Five Preferred Share

Issued

The balance of capital stock is summarized as follows:

Cash

Common Shares Number Proceeds Amount

Balance January 1, 2006 93,717,709 $ 36,404,34

Issued on exercise of stock options (i) 890,840 $ 422,785 450,720

Issued in exchange for property (shares in subsidiary) (ii) 687,570 15,104 195,987

Other common shares (iii) 18,908,070 – 6,000,000

Balance December 31, 2006 114,204,189 $ 437,887 $ 43,051,048

Issued on exercise of stock options (iv) 1,224,434 760,042 1,076,639

Issued in exchange for property (shares in subsidiary) (v) 3,834,114 56,606 1,081,828

Issued on exercise of warrants (vi) 757,378 628,624 784,644

Balance December 31, 2007 120,020,115 $ 1,445,272 $45,994,159

i) 890,840 options previously issued to employees, directors, advisors and consultants were exer-

cised at prices ranging from $0.20 to $0.60 per share.

ii) 274,600 options previously issued to Points.com Inc. founders, employees, directors and advisors

were exercised in Points.com Inc. and put to the Corporation at fair market value for 687,570 of the

Corporation’s common shares.

iii) On April 11, 2006 Convertible Debentures were automatically converted to 18,908,070 common

shares and the series one preferred share converted to 1 common share.

iv) 1,224,434 options previously issued to employees, directors, advisors and consultants were exer-

cised at prices ranging from $0.22 to $1.37 per share.

v) 1,531,257 options previously issued to Points.com Inc. founders, employees, directors and advisors

were exercised in Points.com Inc. and put to the Corporation at fair market value for 3,834,114 of

the Corporation’s common shares.

vi) 757,378 common share purchase warrants (valued at $156,020), issued in connection with the

IAC/InterActiveCorp financing, were exercised for consideration of $628,624.
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17. OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

a) Stock option plan

The Corporation has a stock option plan under which employees, directors and consultants are periodi-

cally granted stock options to purchase common shares at prices not less than the market price of the

common shares on the day prior to the date of grant.  The options generally vest over a three year pe-

riod and expire five years from the grant date.  The 2007 exceptions to the three-year vesting period con-

sist of 100,000 options which vested upon grant and 600,000 options which vest based on performance

criteria and expire five years from the grant date.

2007 2006

Options Authorized by Shareholders 14,058,406 14,058,406

Less: Options Exercised (6,599,813) (5,375,379)

Net Options Authorized 7,458,593 8,683,02

Less: Options Issued & Outstanding (7,202,541) (4,113,085)

Options Available to Grant 256,052 4,569,942

b) Stock options

Stock-based compensation plan

At December 31, 2007, the Corporation had one stock-based compensation plan, which is described

above.  The Corporation accounts for stock options granted under this plan in accordance with the fair-

value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation.  The estimated fair value of the options

that are ultimately expected to vest is recorded over the option’s vesting period and charged to stock-

based compensation.  In determining the amount of options that are expected to vest, the Corporation

takes into account voluntary termination behaviour as well as trends of actual option forfeitures.  The

compensation cost that has been charged against income and included in employment costs for this plan

is $583,934 for 2007 ($366,981 for 2006).

Fair value 

The fair value of each option grant is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pric-

ing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in years 2003 to 2007 re-

spectively: dividend yield of nil for all five years; expected volatility is calculated for each grant date and

has ranged form 29% to 91%, risk-free interest rate has ranged from 3.5% to 4.5% with an expected life

of 3.0 years.  

2007 2006

Dividend yield nil nil

Risk free rate 4.07% 4.05%

Expected volatility 42.1% 40.1%

Expected life of options 3 3

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
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A summary of the status of the Corporation’s stock option plan as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,

and changes during the years ended on those dates is presented below.

2007 2006

Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average

options exercise price options exercise

Beginning of Year 4,113,085 $ 0.86 4,866,913 $ 0.83

Granted 5,177,334 1.26 1,377,500 0.82

Exercised (1,224,434) 0.62 (890,840) 0.47

Forfeited (863,444) 1.01 (1,240,488) 0.97

End of year 7,202,541 $ 1.17 4,113,085 $ 0.86

Exercisable at end of year 1,624,499 $ 1.00 2,778,181 $ 0.84

Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 0.28 $ 0.43

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted average

Number of remaining contractual Weighted average Number of Weighted average

options life (years exercise price Options exercise price

$0.01 to $0.49 ` 65,000 0.13 $ 0.22 65,000 $0.22

$0.50 to $0.99 2,008,667 3.42 0.84 553,125 0.80

$1.00 to $1.49 3,830,874 43 1.16 1,006,374 1.16

$1.50 to $1.99 1,248,000 4,38 1.77 0 n/a

$2.00 and over 50,000 4,78 2,02 0 n/a

7,202,541 1,634,499

Options outstanding but not yet exercisable:

Vest based on employee Vest based on performance

service critieria

Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average

Range of Exercise Price Options exercise price options exercise price

$0.01 to $0.49 – n/a – n/a
$0.50 to $0.99 1,455,542 $ 0.85 – n/a
$1.00 to $1.49 2,224,500 1.15 600,000 $ 1.23
$1.50 to $1.99 1,248,000 1.77 – n/a
$2.00 and over 50,000 2.02 – n/a

4,978,042 600,000

Options issued in 2007:

Exercise price equals Exercise price exceeds  

market price on grant  market price on grant

Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average

Range of Exercise Price Options exercise price options exercise price

$0.01 to $0.49 – n/a – n/a
$0.50 to $0.99 1,207,334 $ 0.90 – n/a
$1.00 to $1.49 1,400,000 1.08 1,267,000 $ 1,28
$1.50 to $1.99 420,000 1.71 833,000 1.80
$2.00 and over 50,000 2.02 – n/a

3,077,334 2,100,000

The expense to be recognized in future periods from the options outstanding at year-end is $1,211,062.

Subsequent to year-end, 140,815 options were exercised, 35,000 options were granted and none were

cancelled.
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c) Stock options of Points.com Inc.

In addition to the stock options described above, Points.com Inc., the Corporation's indirect wholly owned

subsidiary had one stock compensation plan.  No further Points.com Inc. common shares are authorized

for issuance under this plan and all previously outstanding options have been exercised.  Under this plan,

Points.com Inc. founders, employees, directors and advisors were previously issued and, therefore, had

outstanding stock options.  No options were granted in this plan subsequent to 2000.  The options out-

standing are as follows:

2007 2006

Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average

options exercise price options exercise price

Beginning of Year 1,531,257 $ 0.03 1,805,857 $ 0.04
Granted – – – –
Exercised (1,531,257) 0.03 (274,600) 0.06
Forfeited – – – –

End of year – – 1,531,257 $ 0.03

Exercisable at end of year – – 1,531,257 $ 0.03

The holders of 1,531,257 options (all with strike prices at or below $0.055 per share) had the right to put

to the Corporation the common shares of Points.com Inc. acquired on the exercise of such options for

common shares in the Corporation.  The Corporation used a ratio of 2.5039 common shares per

Points.com Inc. common share for this purpose.  In 2007, all remaining 1,531,257 options were exer-

cised and all of the Points.com Inc. common shares received were put to the Corporation for 3,834,114

common shares of the Corporation.

d) Warrants

On April 11, 2006, the common share purchase warrant held by an affiliate of IAC/InterActiveCorp, which

was exercisable to acquire approximately 103 million common shares, expired unexercised.  As a result,

the Corporation's 8% unsecured convertible debentures (“Debentures”), which had a face value of $6.0

million, were automatically converted into approximately 18.9 million common shares using the conver-

sion price of $0.3173 per common share as specified in the Debentures.  The $9.9 million carrying value

of the Debentures (principal and accrued interest) has been converted to equity.

Also as a result, the Corporation's Series One Preferred Share automatically converted into one common

share, eliminating the significant dividend entitlement that would have been payable to the holders of the

Series One Preferred Share in certain events, including a change of control of the Corporation.

The impact on the financial statements of the expiry of the IAC/InterActiveCorp warrant was to increase

contributed surplus and to decrease warrants for $2,572,000 (the fair value of the warrant).  The expiry

has no impact on shareholder’s equity.  As at April 12th, 2006, the Debentures converted to equity.  The

impact is a reduction of $9.9 million in long term liabilities and the $6.0 million value (as determined by

the agreed upon conversion price) assigned to the 18.9 million common shares issued, has been recorded

as an increase to share capital.  The difference between the Debentures amount of $9.9 million and the

$6.0 million recorded as share capital has been credited to contributed surplus.

2007 2006

Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average

warrants exercise price Warrants exercise price

Beginning of Year 906,248 $ 0.83 103,529,530 $ 0.93
Granted – – – –
Exercised (757,378) 0.83 – –
Forfeited – – (102,623,282) 0.93

End of year 148,870 0.83 906,248 0.83

Exercisable at end of year 148,870 0.83 906,248 0.83

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
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Warrants outstanding Warrants exercisable

Weighted average

Range of Number of remaining contractual Weighted average Number of Weighted average

exercise price warrants life (years exercise price warrants exercise price

$0.01 to $0.49 ` – – – – –

$0.50 to $0.99 148,870 0.26 $ 0.83 148,870 $0.83
$1.00 and over – – – – –

e) Warrants of Points.com Inc.

Points.com Inc., had issued or committed to issue 2,848,050 warrants to airline loyalty program partners

that expired unexercised on April 1, 2007.  Each warrant entitled the holder to acquire one common share

of Points.com Inc. with an exercise price of US$1.96.

f) Fair Value

The weighted average grant date fair value of warrants granted were estimated at their grant date at

$0.21 using the Black Scholes option pricing model.  The pricing model assumed a weighted average risk

free interest rates of 3.8%, weighted average expected dividend yields of nil, weighted average expected

common stock price volatility of 30% and a weighted average expected life of 3 years.  During the year,

757,378 common share purchase warrants (valued at $156,020), issued in connection with the IAC/In-

terActiveCorp financing, were exercised for consideration of $628,624.

g) Contributed Surplus

The changes in contributed surplus are as follows:

2007 2006

Contributed Surplus – opening balance $ 8,703,518 $ 2,079,423

Compensation cost 583,934 366,980

Fair value of options exercised (1,341,819) (208,819)

Fair value of expired warrant (Note 14) – 2,572,000

Convertible debenture conversion into equity (Note 14) – 3,893,934

Contributed Surplus – ending balance $ 7,945,633 $ 8,703,518

18. OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses are comprised of:

2007 2006

Office expenses, travel and personnel $ 1,365,295 $ 1,143,585

Professional fees 1,147,488 827,770

Insurance, bad debts and governance 646,231 768,172

$ 3,159,014 $ 2,739,528

19. LOSS PER SHARE

a) Loss per share

Loss per share is calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstand-

ing for the year that amounted to 118,307,829 shares (2006 – 108,258,453).
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b) Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share is equal to basic loss per share as the effect of conversions, options and war-

rants would be anti dilutive.

20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

a) Changes in non cash balances related to operations are as follows:

2007 2006

(Increase) in security deposits $ (562,818) $ (245,421)

(Increase) in funds receivable from payment processors (1,835,560) (796,848)

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (1,351,431) 615,911

(Increase) decrease in deferred costs 76,844 (300,266)

Decrease (increase) in prepaids and sundry assets 7,964 (402,855)

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 391,350 1,018,760

Increase in deferred revenue 990,610 564,517

Increase in payable to loyalty program partners 13,414,361 4,780,260

$ 11,131,320 $ 5,234,058

b) Supplemental information

Interest and taxes 

Interest of $4,421 (2006   $20,341) was paid during the year. In addition to this, the Corporation paid capital

taxes of $40,279 (2006 - $37,113) in the year.  Interest revenue of $676,488 (2006   $218,667) was received dur-

ing the year.

Non cash transactions in 2007 were as follows:

(i) The currency is included in prepaid and sundry assets and the cost is recognized as the currency 

is used.

(ii) The certificates are valued at their average cost and are included in prepaid and sundry assets. 

The cost is recognized as the accommodation certificates are used.

(iii) The research services are valued at their market value and are included in prepaid and sundry as

sets.  The cost is recognized as the services are used.

(iv) The loyalty currency was valued at the purchase price of the miles and the amount included in pre

paid and sundry assets.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

For the years ended December 31 2007 2006

Options exercised in Points.com Inc.

Number of options (Note 17(c)) 1,531,257 274,600

Common shares issued of Points International Ltd. 3,834,114 687,570

Fair value $1,025,222 180,883

Loyalty currency received as a reimbursement (i) – 184,552

Revenue earned for membership fees paid in one week accommodation cer-

tificates (ii) 37,322 146,322
Revenue earned for sign-up fees paid in research services for Points.com
web site (iii) – 50,000

Revenue earned for hosting services paid in loyalty currency (iv) – 17,008



21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of short term financial assets and liabilities, including cash, short term deposits, interest receiv-

able and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, as presented in the balance sheet approximate their carrying

amounts due to the short period to maturity of these financial instruments.

The carrying value and estimated fair value of the Corporation’s financial instruments is their fair value which is

the amount that has been recorded in the financial statements.  

The Corporation has determined the estimated fair values of its financial instruments based on appropriate valu-

ation methodologies, as disclosed below.  However, considerable judgment can be required to develop certain of

these estimates.  Accordingly, these estimated values are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Corpo-

ration could realize in a current market exchange.  The estimated fair value amounts can be materially affected

by the use of different assumptions or methodologies.  The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair

value of each class of financial instruments are discussed below.

Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between

knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act.  Fair value is determined by reference to

quoted bid or ask prices, as appropriate, in the most advantageous active market for that instrument to which the

Corporation has immediate access.  When bid and ask prices are unavailable, the Corporation uses the closing

price of the most recent transaction of that instrument.  In the absence of an active market, the Corporation would

determine fair value based on internal or external valuation models, such as option-pricing models, and dis-

counted cash flow analysis, using observable market-based inputs.

Credit risk

The Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents subject the Corporation to credit risk.  The Corporation has guar-

anteed investment certificates, as per its practice of protecting its capital rather than maximizing investment yield.

The Corporation manages credit risk by investing in cash equivalents, term deposits and short term investments

rated as A or R1 or above.

The Corporation, in the normal course of business, is exposed to credit risk from its customers and the accounts

receivable are subject to normal industry risks.  The Corporation attempts to manage these risks by dealing with

credit-worthy customers.

Interest rate risk

The Corporation does not believe that the results of operations or cash flows would be affected to any significant

degree by a sudden change in market interest rates, relative to interest rates on the investments, owing to the short

term nature of the investments.  Interest rates, maturities and security affecting the currency, interest and credit

risk of the Corporation's financial assets and liabilities have been disclosed in Note 2 (p).

Currency risk

The Corporation has customers and suppliers that are not based in Canada which gives rise to a risk that earn-

ings and cash flows may be adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  The Corpo-

ration is primarily exposed to the US dollar.  The Corporation currently does not use financial instruments to hedge

these risks.  
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Balances denominated in foreign currencies that are considered financial instruments are as follows:

As of December 31, 2007 CAD$ Total US$ GBP EUR CHF

FX Rates used to translate to CAD $ 0.982 1.96 1.4464 0.872

Financial assets (in thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,148 16,391 1,056 1,483 22

Funds receivable from payment processor 5,034 3,932 325 359 4

Short term investments 7,272 7,100 – – –

Security deposits 1,533 1,394 24 74 –

Accounts receivable 3,293 2,785 27 15 –

Total $ 38,280 US$31,602 GBP 1,432 EUR 1,931 CHF 26

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,425 1,448 8 – –

Payable to loyalty program partners 30,196 26,593 1,011 1,444 11

Convertible Preferred Shares 20,307 – – – –

Total $ 53,928 US$ 28,041 GBP 1,019 EUR 1,444 CHF 11

22. INCOME TAXES

The total provision for income taxes differs from that amount which would be computed by applying the Cana-

dian federal income tax rate to the loss before provision for income taxes.  The reasons for these differences are

as follows:

2007 2006

Income tax recovery at statutory rate of 36.12% $ (1,602,000) $ (2,856,000)

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

Lower effective income tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 20,000 –

Lower effective income tax rate on future taxes 51,000 –

Tax cost of non-deductible items 816,000 12,000

Losses for which no benefit has been recorded 715,000 1,774,000

Change in valuation allowance – 1,070,000

Actual income tax expense (recovery) $ – $ –

The Corporation has non capital losses carry forward for income tax purposes in the amount of approximately 

$33,792,000 which may be applied against future years' taxable income.  The losses may be used to reduce fu-

ture years' taxable income and expire approximately as follows:

Jurisdiction

Year Total CAD Canada United Kingdom United States

2008 $ 6,035,000 $ 6,035,000 $ – $ –

2009 5,917,000 5,917,000 – –

2010 3,597,000 3,597,000 – –

2011 5,427,000 5,427,000 – –

2015 5,596,000 5,596,000 – –

2022-2025 781,000 – – 781,000

2026 3,629,000 3,292,000 – 337,000

2027 1,838,000 1,714,000 – 124,000

No expiry 972,000 – 972,000 –

Total $ 33,792,000 $ 31,578,000 $ 972,000 $ 1,242,000

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
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The nature and tax effects of the items that give rise to significant portions of the future income tax assets and

future income tax liabilities are as follows:

Future income tax assets are comprised of: 2007 2006

Losses carried forward $ 9,853,000 $ 13,230,000

Property and equipment 2,662,000 2,647,000

Share issue costs 189,000 1,156,000

12,704,000 17,033,000

Valuation allowance (12,114,000) (16,443,000)

Net future income tax asset $ 590,000 $ 590,000

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following are the transactions and balances with related parties:

In fiscal 2007 and 2006, certain officers and directors exercised stock options in the Corporation and the Corpo-

ration’s subsidiary Points.com Inc. (Note 16 (ii) and Note 16 (v)).  These transactions were part of the normal

course of business and have been recorded at the exchange amount.  There are no amounts receivable or

payable from these transactions.

24. COMMITMENTS

The Corporation is obligated under various operating leases for premises, purchase commitments and equip-

ment and service agreements for web hosting services expiring through 2012 to aggregate annual rentals as fol-

lows:

2008 $ 1,773,503

2009 993,604

2010 613,149

2011 21,347

2012 14,040

In relation to principal revenue, the Corporation has made contractual guarantees on the minimum value of trans-

actions processed over the term of its agreements with certain loyalty program partners.  These guarantees have

a maximum potential value by fiscal year as follows and have not been recognized in the financial statements:

2008 $ 1,506,429

2009 5,962,885

2010 6,206,289

25. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

a) Reportable segments

The Corporation has only one operating segment, the portfolio of technology solutions to the loyalty pro-

gram industry in each of 2007 and 2006 whose operating results were regularly reviewed by the Corpo-

ration's chief operating decision maker and for which complete and discrete financial information is

available.  
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b) Enterprise wide disclosures - Geographic information

$30,102,199 (2006   $10,327,127), representing 95% of the Corporation's revenue, was generated in the

U.S., $374,863 (2006 - $414,647), representing 1%, was generated in Canada and the remaining revenue

was generated outside North America. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, substantially all of the Corporation's assets were in Canada.

26. MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended December 31, 2007, there were three customers who individually represented more than

10% of the Corporation’s total revenue.  In aggregate these three customers represented 75% (three customers

in 2006 represented 58%) of the Corporation’s total revenue.  In addition, 65% (2006 - 65%) of the Corporation's

amount Payable to loyalty program partners are due to these three customers.

27. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in accordance with the current year's presentation.

28. UNITED STATES GAAP (“US GAAP”) RECONCILIATION

Canadian and United States Accounting Policy Differences

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

The significant differences between Canadian GAAP and US GAAP, and their effect on the consolidated finan-

cial statements of the Corporation, are described below.

Consolidated statements of operations:

The following table reconciles net loss as reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of loss to net

loss that would have been reported had the financial statements been prepared in accordance with US GAAP:

Years ended December 31

2007 2006 - Restated

Net loss in accordance with Canadian GAAP $ (4,436,335) $ (8,186,063)

Web site development amortization (a) 98,528 98,528

Net loss in accordance with US GAAP $ (4,337,807) $ (8,087,535)

Loss per share $ (0.04) $ (0.07)

The cumulative effect of these adjustments on shareholders’ deficiency is as follows:

As at December 31

2007 2006 - Restated

Shareholders’ deficiency in accordance with Canadian GAAP $ (7,063,157) $ (4,656,028)

Web site development (a) (819,400) (819,400)

Web site development amortization (a) 794,767 696,239 

Shareholders’ deficiency in accordance with US GAAP $ (7,087,790) $ (4,779,189)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006
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The cumulative effect of these adjustments on the Corporation’s reported assets is as follows:

As at December 31

2007 2006 - Restated

Assets in accordance with Canadian GAAP $ 48,850,568 $ 40,431,054

Web site Development Costs (a) (819,400) (819,400)

Web site Development Amortization (a) 794,7676 96,239

Assets in accordance with US GAAP $ 48,825,935 $ 40,307,893

There is no difference in cash flows under US GAAP.

a) Web Site Development Costs

Canadian GAAP allows the capitalization and amortization of web site development costs incurred, sub-

ject to there being reasonable assurance that future benefits will be realized.  Under US GAAP, Ameri-

can Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Statement of Position “SOP”  98-1 provides specific guidance

on when capitalization may commence, and what direct costs may be capitalized.  For US GAAP pur-

poses, costs incurred in the preliminary project phase have been expensed at the time the costs were in-

curred and the amortization recorded under Canadian GAAP would have been reversed.

Restatement or Previously Issued Financial Statements

The US GAAP reconciliation has been reconciled to give effect to the restatement adjustment in the Cor-

poration’s previously issued financial statements.  The Canadian GAAP results have been restated and

this has resulted in a decrease of $221,888 from $40,652,942 in the Corporation’s total assets at the end

of 2006 and an increase in the shareholder’s deficiency of $1,261,827 from a negative $55,335,455.  The

net loss for the year ended has increased by $279,368 from a previously reported $7,906,695 to a restated

net loss of $8,186,063.  

Guidance for Quantifying Financial Statement Misstatements

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin

No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current

Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”).  SEC staff issued SAB 108 to address what they identified as di-

versity in practice whereby entities were using either an income statement approach or a balance sheet

approach, but not both, when evaluating whether an error is material to an entity’s financial statements.

SAB 108 requires that in quantifying and analyzing misstatements, both the income statement approach

and the balance sheet approach should be used to evaluate the materiality of financial statement mis-

statements. SAB 108 became effective for the Corporation commencing with the year ended December

31, 2006.  

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes 

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation

of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”).  FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes

recognized in an entity’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income

Taxes” (“SFAS 109”).  The interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute

for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken

in a tax return.  FIN 48 also provides accounting guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and

penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.  The evaluation of tax positions under

FIN 48 is a two-step process, whereby (1) Points determines whether it is more likely than not that the

tax positions will be sustained based on the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions

that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Corporation would recognize the largest

amount of tax benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with
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the related tax authority.  The Corporation has not adopted FIN 48 for Canadian GAAP purposes.  Based

on the Corporation’s assessment, the adoption of  FIN 48 had no impact on its statement of position or

results of operations, prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP

Impact of Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157 Fair Value Measurements. SFAS 157 clarifies the defi-

nition of fair value, establishes a framework for measurement of fair value, and expands disclosure about

fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007 and

the Corporation will be required to adopt the standard in the first quarter of fiscal 2008.  The Corporation

is currently evaluating what impact, if any, SFAS 157 will have on its consolidated financial statements.

The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities -Including an Amendment of SFAS 115. SFAS 159 permits entities to measure many financial

instruments and certain other items at fair value that currently are not required to be measured at fair

value. If elected, unrealized gains or losses on certain items will be reported in earnings at each subse-

quent reporting period. SFAS 159 is effective for the Corporation as of the beginning of its 2008 fiscal year.

The Corporation has not determined whether it will elect to adopt the fair value measurement provisions

of this statement, or what impact it will have on its consolidated financial statements.

Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R) Business Combinations. SFAS 141(R) replaces SFAS

141 Business Combinations.  SFAS 141(R) is broader in scope than SFAS 141 which applied only to

business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring consideration. SFAS 141(R) applies

to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses.

SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and the Company will be re-

quired to adopt the standard in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The Company has not determined what im-

pact SFAS 141(R) will have on its consolidated financial statements.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 160 ("FAS 160"), Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, which

establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the

deconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS 160 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years be-

ginning on or after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years.  The Company

presently does not expect FAS 160 to have an effect on its financial statements.
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